





THE NOVEL AND THE PEOPLE



THE NOVEL AND THE PEOPLE

BY RALPH FOX



International Publishers, New York

COPYRIGHT, 1945, BY INTERNATIONAL PUBLISHERS CO., INC.



PRINTED IN U.S.A.

CONTENTS

PUBLISHER'S NOTE		7
AN A	AMERICAN PREFACE by Howard Fast	9
RALPH FOX, THE WRITER by John Lehmann		II
ı.	Introduction	15
2.	Marxism and Literature	21
3.	Truth and Reality	28
4.	The Novel and Reality	34
5.	The Novel as Epic	43
6.	The Victorian Retreat	52
7-	The Prometheans	61
8.	Death of the Hero	73
9.	Socialist Realism	84
10.	Man Alive	92
II.	The Lost Art of Prose	105
12.	The Cultural Heritage	114



PUBLISHER'S NOTE

The Novel and the People was first published in 1937, the year Ralph Fox died fighting for democracy in Spain. This brilliant posthumous volume, which is justly regarded as a modern classic of Marxist literary criticism, has been out of print for some time. The present edition is designed to meet a wide-spread demand that it again be made available. The complete text of the original edition is here reproduced without alteration.

The British author was born in Halifax, Yorkshire, in 1900. He was educated at Oxford. From the time of his first visit to the Soviet Union in 1920 he took a leading part in the effort to further Anglo-Soviet friendship. His profound understanding and hatred of fascism were expressed not only in many books and political essays but in the decision to volunteer for the British section of the International Brigade in Spain. As a mature Marxist, active in the Communist Party of Great Britain, Fox achieved a remarkable integration of theory and practice. His literary and political interests strengthened and enriched each other.

He was an extraordinarily versatile writer. His works included a romantic comedy in three acts, Captain Youth (1922), and a novel, Storming Heaven (1928). He wrote Lenin: A Biography (1933), which Sidney Webb described as "the most acceptable introduction to Soviet Communism for British inquirers." His Genghis Khan (1936) reflected his deep interest in the civilization of Central Asia, which he had studied at first hand.

As a political theorist, Fox made several important contributions to the scientific study of contemporary world politics. His writings include Colonial Policy of British Imperialism (1933), Marx and Engels on the Irish Question (1933), Class Struggle

in Britain (2 vols., 1934), Communism (1935), France Faces the Future (1936) and Portugal Now (1937).

The Novel and the People, his last work, represents the juncture of Fox's interests as a creative artist, historian, literary critic and man of action. It is addressed to both the professional writer and the general reader. Whatever judgments of detail Fox might have wished to revise had he lived through the past decade, this work remains a masterful exposition of Marxist method applied to the fundamental problems of the modern novel.

The personal tribute by the British critic John Lehmann originally appeared in the memorial volume entitled Ralph Fox: A Writer in Arms, edited by John Lehmann, T. A. Jackson, and C. Day Lewis (International Publishers, 1937).

AN AMERICAN PREFACE

BY HOWARD FAST

ONG before I read The Novel and the People, I had heard of Ralph Fox. His story came to life for me in bits and unrelated fragments, which, as I pieced them together, made a picture of a man of splendid and brave stature. In time to come, when the anti-fascist of the thirties is recognized as one of the great heroes of all human experience, Ralph Fox will be by no means the least in the ranks. And in a sense, he is typical—a combination of intellect and faith, theory and action: a peculiarly and wonderfully new servant of humanity.

I have heard people say what a wasteful shame it was that such a man as Fox should have died in Spain, fighting fascism at a time when so few people knew the real nature of that enemy—a waste because surely, if he had lived, he would be a valuable and strong leader of the intellectual life of our times; yet I wonder whether anyone can render a judgment on that point: Fox knew what he was doing; he made his choice with a consciousness of the forces, those social and historical forces of life he always took into consideration, and he fought wherever it was most necessary.

For all that he died so young, he left us a treasure of writing; and in his written words there is the same boldness, the same recognition of necessity, and the same understanding of reality which existed in his life. And that you will see clearly enough when you read *The Novel and the People*, for reading Fox is never a passive experience, but rather the sharing of a bold and exciting intellectual adventure.

In this book Ralph Fox is seeking for causes and effects an artist trying to analyze the nature of the disease that is destroying his art. Again and again, with knife-like precision, Fox hits to the core of the matter. Intellectually, he is bold, completely unafraid of taboo; and thereby, striking out so angrily. he reaches many conclusions that are amazingly valid. And in doing so, he creates the most stimulating and exciting book of literary criticism that I have ever read. He is an adventurer, and he takes you with him into the exciting experience of Marxism and culture.

And his tools are superb; he writes in the old tradition of English letters, and his prose is both graceful and vital.

Withal, the reader should be reminded that this book was written eight years ago, and that the great changes which have occurred since have affected literature as well as everything else. Also, in those eight years, the Russian novel has come to a new maturity—one that would have excited and pleased Ralph Fox, had he lived to see it.

For Americans, too, the book is more of a stimulation to thought than an appraisal of our literature; many of the questions Fox poses have been answered in the tradition of our novel, and his overall picture of the novel would be strengthened by the inclusion of such writers as Clemens, Melville, Sinclair, Anderson, Lewis—to mention only a few. Again, Fox lays too little stress upon the dynamic interplay of reader and writer which is understandable when we consider the time in which he wrote; for example, in America today, we have a new and tremendous book audience in the middle and working class, and there is no doubt that this audience will play an important part in the maturing of the novel.

But as I said before, in Fox's time the world situation was different. In that world, where fascism was a growing, terrible, and comparatively unopposed monster, Fox fought manfully for his art, which is the art of freedom, equality and brother-hood. And his book will remain, for many years to come, the brilliant record of a Marxist writer who believed that only from the people could a great art spring.

RALPH FOX, THE WRITER

BY JOHN LEHMANN

Ralph Fox, although I had known and admired some of his works, chief among them the remarkable biography of Lenin, many years before. These books had prepared me for a powerful mind; but one of the things that impressed me most during our early meetings, apart from his friendliness and ease of manner, was the intense interest in literature as literature which he showed. This was a surprise to me then, chiefly I think because I was not yet free of the illusion, common among my contemporaries, that Marxists had a cut-and-dry method of dealing with literature, and were really only interested in it in so far as it proved something political.

Talking with Ralph Fox soon made me see how stupid this idea was, and opened, too, an entirely new and exciting world to me. He was as intolerant as anyone of those who dismissed half the classics of the world as "bourgeois propaganda" or "counter-revolutionary," and who believed that the smallest trifle written about the struggles of the masses was of greater aesthetic value; and for far clearer and more carefully grounded reasons. The novel was his passionate interest, and he would talk about any English novelist, from Fielding to D. H. Lawrence, for as long as you liked, expatiating on beauties of style and description, or brilliance of character-creation in a way that showed, not only how real and important these things were to him, but also that he had a novelist's instincts himself. It was clear from his conversation that he liked to read and reread a novel, digesting it slowly, until he felt that he understood every side of the author's achievement. And it was the same with French and Russian literature, in both of which his reading and knowledge were immense. Essentially, the secret of his literary perception was that he let himself be passive to a story or novel, allowing his critical intelligence to come in only afterwards; and he despised those who approached literature with preconceived ideas and prejudices that had little to do with aesthetic pleasure.

But if he took delight in every kind of imaginative writing, provided it was good, he had no fog in his mind about the vitally important part literature could and did play in the shaping of men's minds, and therefore of history. His critical sense seemed to me to be very keen; he never let himself deliver a slapdash verdict in conversation on any point, however small, and he would suggest where one had gone wrong oneself perfectly unpretentiously, but at the same time incisively. And what gave his judgment so often convincing depth and force, though I do not think he felt by any means that he was at the end of his explorations, and was always open to new ideas, was that he had as a critic not merely a lively intelligence and fine emotional reactions, but also profound unifying philosophy of literature, to which his Marxism had led him. There is a passage in The Novel and the People, where he says that Marxism "consciously gives to man his full value, and in this sense is the most humanist of all world outlooks"; and he adds in a later chapter: "There is no human character, no emotion, no conflict of personalities outside the scope of the revolutionary novelist. Indeed, he alone is able to create the hero of our time, the complete picture of modern life, because only he is able to perceive the truth of that life." This seems to me to put in a brilliantly concise and inspiring way the dynamic effect a revolutionary, materialist philosophy, properly understood, can have on a modern writer.

The most humanist of all world outlooks: this was the aspect of Marxism undoubtedly that appealed to the deepest things in Ralph Fox's nature. He seemed to have an enormous zest in life, and an enormous admiration for vital personalities, as he showed many times by the fire that came into his writing when he was dealing with such characters as Genghis Khan or Lenin; and when he did not approve, ethically or politically,

of an outstanding character—Lawrence of Arabia, for instance—he nevertheless could not, and did not want to, conceal his admiration for the qualities of genius his subject displayed. But he was interested in every kind of intense living, from the epic lives of his favorite Eastern heroes to the splendid courage of ordinary workers and soldiers. I do not think he ever wrote anything more deeply felt and more revealing of himself than the "dream" of Frank Whittam's execution, the death of the "criminal" who was a true friend of the people, in his unfinished novel. His enjoyment and appreciation of life led him, I think, to his first sympathy with the Revolution, as it led him, after he had completely identified himself with it, to a hatred of any kind of puritanism or narrowly moral attitude inside the movement.

His imaginative grasp of characters and events was so striking, in all he wrote as well as in his conversation, that in time he might well, if he had given himself a chance among all his other activities, have written one or two of the finest revolutionary novels of our generation. Storming Heaven is a remarkable piece of work; but I do not think anyone can read Conversation with a Lama, almost the last thing of this sort that he wrote, without feeling a very great advance in technical and imaginative power. When I first asked him to help us with advice and suggestions in the creation of New Writing, he agreed very readily, and I never had a telephone talk or a meeting with him after, when he failed to produce two or three fruitful ideas or criticisms. Among other things we would often discuss his projects for stories, novels, and sketches. He had any number in his mind, but seeing how busy he was in other ways, it was not easy to pin him down to the writing of any of them. In the summer of 1936, however, while he was waiting for the final arrangements to be made for his long-planned return to Mongolia, he told me that he wanted to write several other stories on the lines of Conversation with a Lama, showing all the changes in the psychology of the East since its contact with the West. He intended, he said, to devote himself far more to creative writing in the future, believing that the Eastern atmosphere which he loved so much would fire him to the work.

A few weeks later the insurrection of the fascist generals broke out in Spain, and Ralph Fox's realism and love of life led him away from the East, and the novels that might have been, forever.

I. INTRODUCTION

HIS ESSAY makes no pretension to deal with the whole vast field of the relation between art and life. It has a more limited aim, to examine the present position of the English novel, to try to understand the crisis of ideas which has destroyed the foundation on which the novel seemed once to rest so securely, and to see what is its future.

At this point I might perhaps say that I do believe that the novel has a future, even though it has only a very shaky present. It is the great folk art of our civilization, the successor to the epic and the *chanson de geste* of our ancestors, and it will continue to live. Life, however, means change, possibly, in art at least, not always a change for the better, but change nevertheless. It is the changes which must take place in the novel if it is to retain its vitality that are to be the subject of this book.

New arts have been born in the course of the history of man, like the cinema, for instance, but so far no art has ever completely died out. Man clings to every extension of his consciousness, to everything which enables him to heighten his sensitivity to the real world in which he lives. The novel is also a new art. True, its roots go back very far, to Trimalchio's Banquet, to Daphnis and Chloe, perhaps even further, to Herodotus. But the novel as an art in its own right, with its own rules, with its universal acceptance and appreciation, is a creature of our own civilization, a creature, above all, of the printing press.

It is only a part of literature, that is true, but so in a sense, is the drama, and none would deny the drama its dignity as an art in its own right. The novel is not merely fictional prose, it is the prose of man's life, the first art to attempt to take the whole man and give him expression. Mr. E. M. Forster has pointed out that the great feature which distinguishes the novel from the other arts is that it has the power to make the secret

life visible. It gives, therefore, a different view of reality from that given by poetry, or the drama, or the cinema, or painting, or music.

All these can express aspects of reality beyond the reach of the novel. But none of them can quite so satisfactorily express the full life of the individual man, woman or child. The why and wherefore of this I shall deal with elsewhere in this essay. Here I must be contented to state the fact and ask the reader to accept it for the moment.

Is there really such a crisis in the art of the novel that people must write books about it, cry shrilly to attract attention as you do when you see someone taking a direction you know must lead them into danger? Yes, most people professionally concerned are by now agreed that the English novel is in a sad state, that it has, in fact, lost direction and purpose. The novel, which above all depends on the fact that it is widely read, is rapidly becoming unreadable.

Of course, this does not imply a stay-in strike on the shelves of the tuppenny libraries. More novels are read today than ever before, but it is the unreadable which is read. Since paradox is not a meal for a hungry man, I will try to explain the position as I see it.

First, there is a crisis of quality. Certainly there were never so many writers producing excellent popular novels, those that tickle our immediate fancy, that we read with pleasure when the wireless is turned off (or even when it is turned on), or in the train, or at the seaside, read them once and never again, unless by sheer accident, having quite forgotten, till half-way through, that we had read them before. These novels, except very incidentally, do not, however, concern us here, for they do not deal with reality.

Naturally, their authors try to picture a real world, but the amount of reality achieved, unless by some accident of individual circumstance having nothing to do with the author, something in the reader and not in the book, is not sufficient to produce that violent shock which brings us, all our emotions taut, our mind alert, into the country of those who see, and having seen through their eyes, we never forget the experience.

Today the novel-reviewer plows week after weary week through dismal acres of printed pages only to shrink from the second-rate emotions and adolescent relationships in cynical disgust. Mr. Cyril Connolly, franker than most reviewers, tells us he often finds it all but impossible to read the books he reviews, while his amusing articles are generally, fortunately for us, much more concerned with Mr. Connolly than with that melancholy raw material which provides Mr. Connolly with his inadequate daily bread.

Strangely enough, the spate of bad books is not due to the increase in the reading public. It is made possible by the way in which the tastes of that ever-growing public are being served by the publishers. The reader no longer gets what he likes, he has to like what he gets from the publishing colossus.

These immense and highly rationalized concerns, often possessing their own printing and binding works, and usually also that essential condition of modern business, a healthy overdraft on the bank, are compelled to seek books to keep them going. They must have more and more books, preferably novels, for the author of a novel need not be paid as much as the author of non-fiction, his book can be more cheaply produced and is sure of a ready market in the libraries if it can be guaranteed free of all originality.

The publishers must have more and more titles on their lists as part of their competitive war with one another, they must print more books in order to keep their print shops busy, or, where they do not own their own print shops, to satisfy the printer who undertakes their business. What they print is not of great concern. It will be printed in the same type, on the same paper, bound in the same cloth, given the same dust jacket and sold to the same libraries, whether it be rubbish or a hidden masterpiece. In either case the publisher in his "blurb" will acclaim it a masterpiece, and most reviewers, having long ago abandoned the hopeless task of discrimination, will wearily accept the publisher's valuation at a greater or less discount, according to the mood of the moment or their personal relation to the publisher concerned.

The author himself has become a mere cipher in this great

game of making publishing pay. When his books sell he is made into an important person, which gives him some independence, but he is still only a part of the game, transferred to the publicity side of the business. The commercial side will now treat him with some deference, but deference, properly handled, can also be made to pay.

Much could be said about the publicity aspect, about the various book of the month clubs, about back-scratching, about the art of managing the Press, about the "services" of broadcasting to literature, but there would be little point in it, so far as the

objects of this essay are concerned.

What we are interested in, as author and reader, is the fact that publishing is now an integral part of big business. It would be foolish to blame the publishers, who have been forced into the position by what our parents used to call "the facts of life." It is only necessary to note that the effect on literature, and particularly on the novel, has been deplorable. Quality has vanished from the aims of the book business and quantity has taken its place.

There is, however, an even more important crisis, a crisis of outlook among the novelists themselves. Despite the terrible flood of bad novels and poor work, there are good novelists, honest workmen, producing today. It is only a very short time since D. H. Lawrence died. James Joyce and E. M. Forster are still alive. Rebecca West, Aldous Huxley and half a dozen others are still seriously and conscientiously writing novels, with what degree of success we are not here concerned.

The difficulties facing the serious writer today are profound ones. A writer more than any other artist expresses his country. His novels are translated and read throughout the world. The England of yesterday was judged abroad by Wells, Kipling, Galsworthy and Conrad. The England of today is judged by Huxley chiefly, and after him by a few younger writers whose works are just winning recognition in translation.

The novelist, therefore, has a special responsibility both to the present and the past of his country. What he inherits from the past is important, because it shows what are the sections of his country's cultural heritage which have meaning today. What

he says of the present is important, because he is assumed to be expressing what is most vital in the spirit of his time. It may be objected that the novelist is not concerned with other people's attitude to his work. What he inherits, what he expresses, is strictly his own affair.

Even if it is his affair alone, he cannot, however, cut himself off from the outside world's reaction to his work. In a world where nationalism has run mad in its most egoistic and destructive forms, the attitude of a serious and important writer toward nationalism is an important one. To their infinite credit it can be said that every serious English writer of today understands this and that the majority of them are very seriously concerned about the problems involved.

Shall the writer renounce his country for a religion? Mr. Evelyn Waugh has done this, only to find that it lands him in the receptive lap of another country's nationalism. Apparently today Roman Catholicism implies support for fascist Italy, the most aggressive and egotistically brutal, after Germany, of all modern States. Shall he accept the logical consequences of D. H. Lawrence's blood and race cult? Then, like Mr. Henry Williamson, he may end by supporting Nazi culture with its arguments of the medieval torture chamber and its "spiritual" glorification of war.

Mr. Waugh has written the life of Edmund Campion, the Jesuit martyr, and been crowned with the Hawthornden prize, one of the two distinctions it is possible for an English author to win. But would Shakespeare or Marlowe have considered Campion a martyr? Or would they not have inclined to the view that his activities, at a time when England was fighting for national existence, fighting for the conditions which created our national culture, were best characterized by Shakespeare's reference to:

"the fools of time, Which die for goodness, who have liv'd for crime."

Clearly, the writer of today has to distinguish very sharply between what is truly national and what is merely nationalistic or anti-national. The past matters as much as the present. We must carry it with us on our march and therefore we are concerned that the burden should not weigh us down too heavily, that we should be able to choose from the past what is real enough to be of help, and abandon, for the time, what can only be a hindrance.

The crisis of outlook is concerned with philosophy, and therefore with form. Since the War the philosophical outlook of most English writers has been deeply influenced by that last of European liberals, Sigmund Freud.* Psycho-analysis, as developed by Freud, is the apotheosis of the individual, the extreme of intellectual anarchy. It has certainly affected the English novel in the last twenty years more than any other body of ideas. It has also brought it to a state of almost complete intellectual bankruptcy, even though some strikingly original work also owes much of its force to the revelation of the individual made possible by Freudian analysis.

The last point which troubles the mind of the writer today is what I will call the social question. Can a novelist remain indifferent to the problems of the world in which he lives? Can he shut his eyes to the clamor of preparing war, his eyes to the state of his country, can he keep his mouth closed when he sees horror around him and life being denied daily in the name of a State pledged to maintain the sanctity of private greed?

More and more novelists are beginning to feel that eyes, ears and voice are, in fact, organs of sense, responsible to the stimulus of the human world, and not mere passive servants of a spiritual world supposed traditionally to be the domain of "art." They understand that they live in a time in which nothing less than the fate of humanity is being decided, and they deeply resent the suggestion that man's fate is not the concern of those whose traditional pride has always been their humanism.

They are aware that there are two important views as to the future of civilization. One view believes that civilization will continue to develop on the basis of private property, war and insane egoism expressed in the dictatorial nationalist state. The other view believes that humanity is fighting for a new series of values based on social property, which shall banish war, de-

^{*}The phrase is borrowed from Mr. Day Lewis.

stroy nationalism, and replace it by the free growth of healthy nations co-operating with one another in a world civilization.

Most writers, to a greater or less degree, incline to the second view. Some of them, more clear-sighted than others, feel that such a new civilization will come largely as a result of the struggle now being led by the working class and that the beginnings of that new civilization are already apparent in the Soviet Union. This has made them interested in Marxism, the outlook on life of the revolutionary section of the working class and of the great Union of Socialist Republics with its one hundred seventy million inhabitants.

The view has hitherto prevailed that though the workingclass movement and the Russian Revolution might be good in themselves, Marxism, because it is a "materialist" philosophy, is a philosophy hostile to artistic expression. This view is generally put in the form of suggesting that Marxism "binds the artist in chains of dogma."

Perhaps that is longer stated with quite the same conviction. People know more about Marxism today. But it prevails in general, and even among those who sympathize with Marxists there are many who still believe that such formulas as "socialist realism" or "revolutionary novel" are not to be accepted seriously save as political slogans.

It is the aim of this essay to show that the future of the English novel and therefore the solution to the problems which vex the English novelist lies precisely in Marxism with its artistic formula of a "socialist realism" which shall unite and re-vitalize the forces of the Left in literature.

2. MARXISM AND LITERATURE

ARXISM is a materialist philosophy. It believes in the primacy of matter and that the world exists outside of us and independently of us. But Marxism also sees all matter as changing, as having a history, and accepts nothing as fixed and immutable. In the seventeenth century few English

writers would have quarreled with a materialist view of life, though their view of materialism would not have been the same as that of Marx and Engels. To Shakespeare, drawing his philosophical views from Rabelais and Montaigne, there would have appeared nothing outrageous in the Marxian view of life. For the greater part of the eighteenth century a materialist view of life would have been accepted without question by many of the greatest British writers.

It is not so today. It has not been so for more than a century. Today the literary journalist protests that materialism and imagination cannot go to bed together. The result, they suggest, would not be creation, but simply an unholy row. It is a curiously perverted view, for it would appear to be the most natural thing in the world for the imaginative writer, and particularly the novelist, to adopt a materialist view of life.

"Being determines consciousness" is the Marxist definition of the ultimate relation between matter and spirit. Whether or not this is the actual view of the artist it must, in fact, be the basis of his creative work. For all imaginative creation is a reflection of the real world in which the creator lives. It is the result of his contact with that world and his love or hate for what he finds in that world.

It is the lights and colors, the forms and shapes, the breath of the winds, the scents of life, the physical beauty or the physical ugliness of animal life, including the lives of human beings, the acts, the thoughts, the dreams of actual men and women, including the creator himself, that form the stuff of art.

Milton demanded three things of poetry, that it be "simple, sensuous and passionate." Art that is not sensuous, that is not concerned with perception of the real world, with sensible objects, is not art at all, not even the shadow of art. The essence of the creative process is the struggle between the creator and external reality, the urgent demand to master and recreate that reality. "But does not Marxism claim that works of art are merely a reflection of economic needs and economic processes?" it will be objected.

No, this is not the view of Marxism, though it is the view of a number of materialists of the nineteenth century of the positivist school whose views have nothing in common with Marxian, dialectical materialism. Marx has clearly stated his ideas on the relationship between the spiritual processes of life, of which artistic creation is one, and the material basis of life, in the famous Preface to his *Critique of Political Economy*. Here is the passage:

"The mode of production of the material means of existence conditions the whole process of social, political and intellectual life. It is not the consciousness of men that determines their existence, but, on the contrary, their social existence determines their consciousness. At a certain stage of their development, the material forces of production in society come in conflict with the existing relations of production, or-what is but a legal expression for the same thing-with the property relations within which they had been at work before. From forms of development of the forces of production these relations turn into their fetters. Then opens an epoch of social revolution. With the change of the economic foundation the entire immense superstructure is more or less rapidly transformed. In considering such revolutions the distinction should always be between the material revolution in the economic conditions of production which can be determined with the precision of natural science, and the juridical, political, religious, aesthetic, or philosophicin short, ideological forms-in which men become conscious of this conflict and fight it out."

Marx, then, certainly believed that the material mode of life in the end determined the intellectual. But he never for a moment considered the connection between the two was a direct one, easily observed and mechanically developing. He would have laughed to scorn the idea that because capitalism replaces feudalism, therefore a "capitalist" art immediately replaces "feudal" art, and that all great artists must in consequence directly reflect the needs of the new capitalist class. Nor, as will appear later, did he consider that because the capitalist mode of production was a more progressive one than the feudal, capitalist art must therefore always stand on a higher level than feudal art, while feudal art in turn must stand above the art of the slave States of Greece and Rome, or the ancient

Eastern monarchies. Such crude and vulgar views are foreign to the whole spirit of Marxism.

Changes in the material basis of society, Marx rightly urged, can be determined by the economic historian with the precision of natural science (which, of course, is not the same thing as saying that these changes are scientifically determined). But no such scientific measurement of the resulting changes in the social and spiritual superstructure of life is possible. The changes take place, men become conscious of them, they "fight out" the conflict between old and new in their minds, but they do so unevenly, burdened by all kinds of past heritage, often unclearly, and always in such a way that it is not easy to trace the changes in men's minds.

It is true, for example, that the Code Napoléon is the legal expression of the social and economic changes wrought by the French Revolution. Yet the knowledge of this does not in itself explain the Code Napoléon. One must understand also the past history of France and the relation of classes in that country before the Revolution, one must understand the course of the Revolution itself and the changes in class relationships which the Revolution brought about, and finally, one must understand Napoleon's military dictatorship. Then only does the Code become comprehensible as the legal expression of the new bourgeois society and the French industrial revolution which began during the Napoleonic period. And law is perhaps the most responsive part of the ideal superstructure, it changes most easily in accordance with changes in the mode of production. But art is much farther from the basis, responds far less easily to the changes in it.

Engels in a letter to J. Bloch, written in 1890, was quite emphatic about this point. "According to the materialist conception of history," he wrote, "the determining element in history is *ultimately* the production and reproduction in real life. More than this neither Marx nor I have ever asserted. If therefore somebody twists this into the statement that the economic element is the *only* determining one, he transforms it into a meaningless, abstract and absurd phrase. The economic situation is the basis, but the various elements of the super-

structure—political forms of the class struggle and its consequences, constitutions established by the victorious class after a successful battle, etc.—forms of law—and then even the reflexes of all these actual struggles in the brains of the combatants: political, legal, philosophical theories, religious ideas and their further development into systems of dogma—also exercise their influence upon the course of the historical struggles and in many cases preponderate in determining their form. There is an interaction of all these elements, in which, amid all the endless host of accidents (i.e., of things and events whose inner connection is so remote or so impossible to prove that we regard it as absent and can neglect it), the economic movement finally asserts itself as necessary. Otherwise the application of the theory to any period of history one chose would be easier than the solution of a simple equation of the first degree."

Marxism, therefore, while reserving the final and decisive factor in any change for economic causes, does not deny that "ideal" factors can also influence the course of history and may even preponderate in determining the form which changes will take (but only the form). It is only a caricature of Marxism to suggest that it underestimates the importance of such a spiritual factor in human consciousness as artistic creation, or to make the absurd claim that Marx considered works of art to be the direct reflexion of material and economic causes. He did not. He understood perfectly well that religion, or philosophy, or tradition can play a great part in the creation of a work of art, even that any one of these or other "ideal" factors may preponderate in determining the form of the work in question. Among all the elements which go to make a work of art it is, however, only the economic movement which asserts itself as finally necessary, for what Marx and Engels considered to be true of historical changes they also considered true of aesthetic creation.

It is often objected against Marxism that it denies the individual, who is merely the prey of abstract economic forces which drive him to his doom with the inevitability of a Greek fate. We will leave aside the question of whether or not the conception that man is driven by external fate to an inevitable

end makes the creation of a work of art impossible. Perhaps Calvinism has never produced great art, but the idea of doom and fate has done so—in the Greek tragedies, in the works of Hardy, to mention only two instances. It is nevertheless possible that the objection, if it really represented the Marxian view, would be a valid one. At least this objection is prompted by the humanist tradition of the great art of the western world, and is therefore worthy of respect, even though it is based on a grave misunderstanding.

For Marxism does not deny the individual. It does not see only masses in the grip of inexorable economic forces. True, some Marxist literary works, particularly some "proletarian" novels, have given innocent critics cause to believe that this is the case, but here perhaps the weakness has been in the novelists who have failed to rise to the greatness of their theme of man changing himself through the process of changing nature and creating new economic forces. Marxism places man in the center of its philosophy, for while it claims that material forces may change man, it declares most emphatically that it is man who changes the material forces and that in the course of so doing he changes himself.

Man and his development is the center of the Marxist philosophy. How does man change? What are his relations with the external world? These are the questions to which the founders of Marxism have sought and found answers. I do not wish here to outline Marxist philosophy, for that is done more capably elsewhere, but let us examine for a moment this question of man as an active historical agent, man at work and struggling with life, for this is the man who is at once artistic creator and the object of art. This is the way in which Engels explained the part of the individual in history:

"History makes itself in such a way that the final result always arises from conflicts between many individual wills, of which each again has been made what it is by a host of particular conditions of life. Thus there are innumerable intersecting forces, an infinite series of parallelograms of forces which give rise to one resultant—the historical event. This again may itself be viewed as the product of a power which, taken as a whole, works unconsciously and without volition. For what each individual wills is obstructed by everyone else, and what emerges is something that no one willed. Thus past history proceeds in the manner of a natural process and is also essentially subject to the same laws of movement. But from the fact that individual wills—of which each desires what he is impelled to by his physical constitution and external, in the last resort economic, circumstances (either his own personal circumstances or those of society in general)—do not attain what they want, but are merged into a collective mean, a common resultant, it must not be concluded that their value — O. On the contrary, each contributes to the resultant and is to this degree involved in it."

Here is not only a formula for the historian, but also for the novelist. For the one concern of the novelist is, or should be, this question of the individual will in its conflict with other wills on the battleground of life. It is the fate of man that his desires are never fulfilled, but it is also his glory, for in the effort to obtain their fulfillment he changes, be it ever so little, in ever so limited a degree, life itself. Not X = 0 is the Marxist formula for the fate of man, but "on the contrary, each contributes to the resultant and is to this degree involved in it."

The conflict of wills, of desires and passions, is not, however, a conflict of abstract human beings, for Engels is careful to emphasize that man's desires and actions are conditioned by his physical constitution and, finally, by economic circumstances, either his personal circumstances or those of society in general. In his social history it is, in the last resort again, the class to which he belongs, the psychology of that class, with its contradictions and conflicts, which plays the determining part. So that each man has, as it were, a dual history, since he is at the same time a type, a man with a social history, and an individual, a man with a personal history. The two, of course, even though they may be in glaring conflict, are also one, a unity, in so far as the latter is eventually conditioned by the former, though this does not and should not imply that in art the social type must dominate the individual personality. Falstaff, Don Quixote, Tom Jones, Julien Sorel, Monsieur de Charlus are all types, but they are types in whom the social characteristics constantly

reveal the individual, and in whom the personal hopes, hungers, loves, jealousies and ambitions in turn light up the social background.

The novelist cannot write his story of the individual fate unless he also has this steady vision of the whole. He must understand how his final result arises from the individual conflicts of his characters, he must in turn understand what are the manifold conditions of lives which have made each of those individuals what she or he is. "What emerges is something that no one willed," how exactly that sums up each great work of art, and how well it expresses the pattern of life itself, since behind the event that no one willed a pattern does exist. Marxism gives to the creative artist the key to reality when it shows him how to discern that pattern and the place which each individual occupies in it. At the same time it consciously gives to man his full value, and in this sense is the most humanist of all world outlooks.

3. TRUTH AND REALITY

AM A MAN for whom the visible world exists," Théophile Gautier told the brothers Goncourt when he wished to explain the essence of himself as an artist. Had he said, "I am a man for whom the world exists," he might not have explained so well his own virtues and limitations as a writer, but he would have given us a very good beginning for judging the relation between a writer and reality, for judging his attitude to truth. One example will show what I mean. André Gide, in the course of a literary confession, answers a critic who suggests that it was only during his journey in the French Congo, during 1925, that he became aware of social iniquity.

"This is not so," Gide replies. "If I had simply published the whole of my notes and the diary of my journey in the period when I wrote *Amyntas* (1893-96), in the same way as I did for my journey in the Congo, or, to be more exact, if I had

given free play in my notes to everything that was on my mind at that time, you would have found in them, for example, the story of the commencement of the exploitation of the Gafsa phosphates, and, more than anything else, the story of the sinister and methodical expropriation of the small Arab farmers by the C— bank, none of which left me indifferent. But there you are! It was not my job. I should have thought myself dishonored as an artist if I had lent my pen to such vulgar cares. That was something for people more competent in such affairs than myself."

In fact, André Gide was at that time a man for whom the world did not exist, except subjectively. It was not till much later, after the War, during his travels in the Congo, that he began to perceive the world as it exists in reality, and not merely as it existed in his own consciousness. But even here, in the Congo, his approach was still subjective, still that of the outraged individual rather than of the man who sees steadily and whole. His own explanation is most interesting.

When he first saw colonial exploitation, in Algeria during the nineties, he had still, he says, "the absurd cult of the 'expert,' of the trained men, economists, administrators (or generals in war); I had confidence in them and gave them due credit. I thought that what aroused my indignation must make them indignant also and that they were better qualified than I to denounce and reform abuse, extortion, injustice and error. Then at that time I was still deplorably modest and did not yet understand that when there is no one but the victim to shout 'stop thief,' he runs the risk of not being heard. In the Congo it was different. Here I could have no illusion that there would be anyone to listen to the cry of the robbed. I had been told so over and over again before I left, in order to dissuade me from going. 'Don't go out there; nobody goes out there for pleasure.' Administrators, traders, missionaries, the only representatives of France all had their mouths closed, either out of duty or self-interest. Here, where I alone was able to speak, I had to speak. I was no anti-imperialist when I left home, and it was not as an anti-imperialist that I denounced the abuses I had witnessed. Yes, it was not till much later that an unescapable

logic led me to connect these particular abuses to a whole deplorable system and that I was brought to understand that a system which tolerated, protected and favored such abuses because it profited from them itself, was bad from top to bottom."

In this confession Gide traces his whole progress from the subjective intellectual, unwilling to recognize any truth except through his own self-limited consciousness (his cult of the "expert"), to the gradual breaking down of his idealist standpoint as he comes to see, not merely that the outer world exists, which he had always known, but that it can be understood, and that it must be mastered before his individual consciousness finds its freedom. He had begun to understand that consciousness, which he had looked upon as the central fact of being, the activity which creates the world, was in fact merely the subjective side of human activity as a whole, that it was not something apart from objectivity, but was merely the refashioning of the objective world in his own mind and its translation into the language of thought.

It would seem as though the development of an ever-growing and ever more minute specialization and division of labor in the modern world had strangled the voice of the writer, blinded him to a complete vision of the real world. "My job is to write," is its narrowest expression, as though that job precluded all knowledge of other jobs. Poetry, Mr. Baldwin has assured us, is essentially a harmless vocation, so long, that is, as the poet shuts out from his vision all that part of life which might affect the "harmless" character of his work. This narrow view of the artist's function is a very modern one. Before the middle of the nineteenth century it would have been completely inacceptable to the majority of the world's writers. In the heroic period of English literature, from Marlowe to Fielding, it was unknown.

The revolutionary task of literature today is to restore its great tradition, to break the bonds of subjectivism and narrow specialization, to bring the creative writer face to face with his only important task, that of winning the knowledge of truth, of reality. Art is one of the means by which man grapples with and assimilates reality. On the forge of his own inner con-

sciousness the writer takes the white-hot metal of reality and hammers it out, refashions it to his own purpose, beats it out madly by the violences of thought, to steal a phrase from Naomi Mitchison. The whole procession of creation, the whole agony of the artist, is in this violent conflict with reality in the effort to fashion a truthful picture of the world.

Knowledge enormous makes a God of me.

Names, deeds, gray legends, dire events, rebellions,
Majesties, sovran voices, agonies,
Creations and destroyings, all at once
Pour into the wide hollows of my brain,
And deify me, as if some blithe wine,
Or bright elixir peerless I had drunk,
And so become immortal.

Keats, hated and beset by the reactionary critics of his day with a vile ardor that was more furious even than that shown toward the more obviously revolutionary Byron and Shelley, has in his greatest poem, the poem he was unable to finish, attempted to give the very essence of the revolutionary struggle of the great creative artist. For the really great writer, regardless of his own political views, must always engage in a terrible and revolutionary battle with reality, revolutionary because he must seek to change reality. For him, his life is always a battle of heaven and hell, a conflict of gods dethroned and gods ascendant, a fight for the soul of man.

Can Marxism fit the writer for this battle? A recent leading article in the Times Literary Supplement, discussing American revolutionary literature, attempts an answer to the question. Can this new literature, asks the Times critic, "reach out to include and cope with the whole range of human experience? Clearly never so long as the dogmatists have their way. The aim of an ultimate art, and in its degree of all art whatsoever, is an understanding which comprehends all forms and creeds, and which cannot therefore of its nature bind itself to dwell within the limits of even a far more liberal social philosophy than Marxism in practice generally proves to be. Art and dogmatism are as the poles opposed. . . . There is no reason why an artist

should not be an honest artist and a Marxist at one and the same time, so long as the form of his Marxism does not conflict with his deepest knowledge. Every man must of necessity be blinded or blinkered by his ignorances; he can at best but strive for a perpetual new clarification. Form of some sort is inevitable if only as mental machinery; and to the objective view there seems no obvious reason why Marxism should not function as satisfactorily in that subordinate role—so long as it is kept subordinate—as any other comparable conception."

The *Times* reviewer is sympathetic in his approach to Marxism, but he fails to understand its real significance. It is not a matter of whether, since a writer must have a "faith," Marxism will not suit as well as theosophy, or Freudism, or any other "ism." Form is a mental machinery and Marxism can fit that subordinate role well enough, he says. An argument which reminds me of my headmaster at school who on every speech day defended the teaching of classics (it was necessary to defend it in our commercial community) as being an unrivaled form of "mental gymnastics." And a form of mental gymnastics, as we were taught the classics, they certainly were, though whether unrivaled is another question. But one may doubt whether Erasmus would have approved of such a view of the function of classical teaching.

However, and here is the real point at issue, Erasmus lived at a time when a knowledge of the classics was an essential weapon of the creative artist in his fight for the truth of life. The poetry and the thought of Greece and Rome were needed to overcome the dogma and obscurantism of the Middle Ages. Not mental gymnastics, but the mastery of the soul of man was in question. The same is true of Marxism and our own time. It is the philosophy of human progress in our day, the one world outlook which enables us to battle successfully against the outworn dogmas and obscurantism which still grip the soul of man in our modern world. Without Marxism, there is no approach to that essential truth which is the chief concern of the writer.

It is not a matter here of a free choice between a variety of attractive philosophies to fit the subordinate role of a men-

tal machinery for the artist. Our world is torn by a historical struggle, as the world of Erasmus was rent in two by a historical struggle, and in that struggle Marxism, the outlook of the class called by history to build a new world on the ruins of the old, plays the part that humanism played in the building of the world that replaced feudalism.

Form is inevitable as a mental machinery, the *Times* writer suggests. But Marxism insists that neither form nor content are separate and passive entities. Form is produced by content, is identical and one with it, and, though the primacy is on the side of content, form reacts on content and never remains passive. Marxism can never be a mere fashionable parade-dress for the modern author. It is his outlook on life, his touchstone for reality, it enables him to discipline and shape that very "deepest knowledge" which seeks expression. Indeed, Marxism must be the writer's way of perceiving and knowing the real world.

It is, of course, true that "the aim of an ultimate art... is an understanding which comprehends all forms and creeds," but understanding cannot be gained by blindly accepting all or a selection of existing forms and creeds, by any kind of literary or philosophical eclecticism.

To understand, to know reality, it is necessary to have a theory of knowledge corresponding to truth. And truth is not abstract and motionless, to be discovered by a formally logical and abstract process of thought, or even, as a certain school would have us believe, by intuition.

Truth can only be reached through practical activity, for truth is the expression of man's own intense investigation of an object, and that investigation is above all a human activity, particularly a social and productive activity.

Certainly the artist must be concerned only with truth. "Truth," wrote Lenin, "is formed out of the totality of all aspects of a phenomenon of reality, and their (mutual) relationship." And again, what is surely of greatest importance to every artist:

"Knowledge is the eternal, infinite approach of thought to the object. The expression of nature in man's thought must be understood not in a 'dead,' 'abstract' way, not without movement,

not without contradictions, but in an eternal process of movement, of the springing up of contradictions and their solution."

An art which accepts such a philosophy is truly in a position to reach an understanding comprehending all forms and creeds. It is a really human art and it is for this reason that Marxist writers claim that a socialist art, a new realism, is today alone capable of that complete objectivity which permits the creative worker to win in his ardent battle with reality.

4. THE NOVEL AND REALITY

HE COMPARISON has often been made between the epic and the novel. The novel is the epic art form of our modern, bourgeois, society; it reached its full stature in the youth of that society, and it appears to be affected with bourgeois society's decay in our own time. Fielding declared the epic lineage and function of the modern novel in the prefatory chapters of his "heroic historical, prosaic poem," Tom Jones, but no critic would have the bad taste to attribute epic qualities to the overwhelming majority of contemporary novels; though even here, in Ulysses, in Swann's Way, we have perhaps our Henriade or our Idylls of the King.

We can even say that not only is the novel the most typical creation of bourgeois literature, it is also its greatest creation. It is a new art form. It did not exist, except in very rudimentary form, before that modern civilization which began with the Renaissance, and like every new art form it has served its purpose of extending and deepening human consciousness. Will it die with the death of our civilization, as the epic died with the death of ancient society? But the epic was born again in the chanson de geste, and when that passed with the society which gave it birth, there came the novel, also conceived on epic lines, but designed to meet the needs of the new man, to express his desires and picture his turbulent world. It would seem that our aesthetic nature demands satisfaction in the epic form. But may not the new cinema, equipped with sound and color, able to

use music (it already has a music of its own, the creation of modern technique, differing in quality from music as such), may not this vital, youthful art create the epic of the new age?

It is impossible to deny that it may succeed in doing this to a great extent, but hardly, I think, altogether. For the novel will always have the advantage of being able to give a completer picture of man, of being able to show that important inner life, as distinct from the purely dramatic man, the acting man, which is beyond the scope of the cinema. Indeed, the challenge of the cinema may compel the novel to reassert itself by finding again important qualities which it has lost, above all by forcing it to face the need for action. It is not merly love of crime or violence which makes the detective novel popular. It corresponds to a real need for action in literature, for the dramatic, which the cinema has nourished and from which the modern novel shrinks.

The epic was a complete expression of a society in a way in which the novel never has been and never could be. There was a balance between the characters of the epic and the society in which they lived which has since been lost. Indeed, the *Iliad* is more a picture of a society than of any one of its characters, a society in which the individual does not feel himself in opposition to the collective, any more than he feels himself in conflict with nature. He is part of his society, and, at times, almost a part of nature, or else dominated by nature, but never in conflict with it or master of it. The *Chanson de Roland* also is a story of the conflict of two societies, in this case "Christians" and "Pagans" in which the characters, Charlemagne, Roland, Oliver, Ganelon, the traitor knight, are rather types than individuals, types of wisdom, courage, loyalty and treachery.

The story or tale, dealing with the woes and joys of individual men and women, with *private* life, comes only with the break-up of the old social life of Greco-Roman civilization, of the Celtic communities. The self-contained societies have gone and the tale is already a cosmopolitan thing, as in Daphnis and Chloe, or the story of Tristan and Iseult.

The novel deals with the individual, it is the epic of the struggle of the individual against society, against nature, and it could only develop in a society where the balance between man

and society was lost, where man was at war with his fellows or with nature. Such a society is capitalist society. The two greatest stories in the world are the *Odyssey* and *Robinson Crusoe*. But how different they are! Odysseus lives in a society without history, a society in which myth and reality are indistinguishable and time is without terror. The sea-driven Odysseus knows that his fate is in the hands of the gods who control nature, for the storm is the wrath of Poseidon and shipwreck is only another trial in the long journey home to Ithaca.

Not so with Robinson Crusoe. "This eighteenth century individual," writes Marx, "constituting the joint product of the dissolution of the feudal form of society and of the new forces of production which had developed since the sixteenth century, appears as an ideal whose existence belongs to the past, not as a result of history, but as its starting point." Odysseus had no history. He lived in the childhood of the world and the gods were his familiars. Robinson renounced the past and prepared to make his own history, he was the new man who was ready to command nature, his enemy. Robinson's world is a real world, described with a vivid and understanding feeling for the value of material things. The storm is a horror which puts in peril the ship and its cargo, men are pirates and mutineers, cruel and merciless to their fellows, but Crusoe's faith in himself, his naive optimism, enable him to overcome both his own folly in risking his fortune, the cruelty of nature and the savage hostility of his fellow men, and to found his ideal colony beyond the seas.

He tells the exiled Russian nobleman his story "of my living in the island; and how I managed both myself and the people that were under me, just as I have since minuted it down. They were exceedingly taken with the story, and especially the prince, who told me with a sigh, that the true greatness of life was to be masters of ourselves." So the long voyage of Crusoe, who mastered himself, came to an end, not in the return to Ithaca and the battle with the false suitors, not in the welcome of the patient Penelope and the wise Telemachus, but in that last journey to Siberia and the return to the Elbe.

"Here my partner and I found a very good sale for our

goods, as well those of China as the sables, etc., of Siberia; and dividing the produce, my share amounted to three thousand four hundred and seventy-five pounds seventeen shillings and threepence, including about six hundred pounds' worth of diamonds which I purchased at Bengal." Robinson's life, like that of Odysseus, is the story of a strange journey, and like that of Odysseus it ends—"in retirement, and the blessing of ending our days in peace." But the whole aim of Odysseus is to return from the war at Troy to the island home, while with Robinson it is the outward, and not the homeward, trip in his voyage which is important. He is the empire builder, the man who challenges nature and wins. His reward is calculated down to the last threepence, and it is well-earned.

Throughout the eighteenth century Robinson Crusoe was used at the basis for lectures in political economy. Indeed, echoes of it are still heard in the work of John Stuart Mill. The new bourgeoisie had found its singer and he was not idle, nor was the day he sang an empty one. He stood at the threshold of a new epoch in the life of man, when the world in the course of two centuries was to undergo its most complete transformation and man himself was to fulfill the dreams of the ancient poets that he would fly in the air, span the earth in sevenleague boots, and master the seas above and below. In fulfilling these dreams man also transformed himself, destroying ancient and noble cultures, degrading the relations between man and man, putting the life of the mind on a lower level than the trading of coal or boot-polish, and covering the real character of man's life with a thick veil of hypocrisy such as had never before existed in relations between men.

Capitalist society as it has developed, has placed the artist in a totally different position from that which he occupied in all preceding social systems. In its early period, from the Renaissance to the middle of the eighteenth century, this was not so obvious. The writer was still free to see man as he is, to give a whole picture of him, and to criticize the present as well as the medieval past. In short, capitalism, which created realism as a method and gave it its perfect form in the novel, capitalism, which made man the center of art, also in the end destroyed the

conditions in which realism can flourish and only permitted man to appear in art, particularly in the novel, in a castrated or perverted form. Théophile Gautier summed up the position when, talking of the trial of Flaubert for indecency in 1857, he said: "Really, I blush for my trade! In return for the very modest sums which I have to earn, because I should otherwise die of hunger, I say only a half or a quarter of what I think... and yet at every sentence I run the risk of being dragged before the Courts." From Jonathan Wild to the trial of Flaubert and Gautier's bitter remark was only a few years more than a century, yet what had happened in that time!

The growth of capitalism, particularly the minute subdivision of labor and the increasing exploitation of man by man which followed on the establishment of machine industry and the expropriation of the independent producer, whether peasant or artisan, has resulted on the one hand in a general decay of art, which has been unable to produce anything to equal the great works of the Renaissance, that period of transition from feudalism to capitalism in which the individual won his right to life, or the equally great art of the slave societies of Greece or Rome, or the Eastern feudalism of China; and on the other hand it has brought with it the degradation of the artist himself, crushed by the seemingly insoluble contradiction between the individual and society.

In the Communist Manifesto Marx and Engels have exposed the real causes of this decline in cultural life, describing the revolutionary part played by the bourgeoisie in destroying preceding social relations:

"The bourgeoisie, wherever it has got the upper hand, has put an end to all feudal, patriarchal, idyllic relations. It has pitilessly torn asunder the motley feudal ties that bound man to his 'natural superiors,' and has left no other bond between man and man than naked self-interest, than callous 'cash-payment.' It has drowned the most heavenly ecstasies of religious fervor, of chivalrous enthusiasm, of philistine sentimentalism, in the icy water of egotistical calculation. It has resolved personal worth into exchange value, and in place of the numberless indefeasible chartered freedoms, has set up that single, unconscion-

able freedom—Free Trade. In one word, for exploitation, veiled by religious and political illusions, it has substituted naked, shameless, direct, brutal exploitation.

"The bourgeoisie has stripped of its halo every occupation hitherto honored and looked up to with reverent awe. It has converted the physician, the lawyer, the priest, the poet, the man of science, into its paid wage-laborers."

So, by depriving millions of small producers of their property, capitalism has achieved a tremendous leveling process. And the same leveling process has been brought into cultural relations. The individual whose labor power has become a commodity ceases to possess a moral or aesthetic value, and since commodity exchange equates all things, so art also becomes a commodity and is equated to its very opposite and antagonism. In the ancient or feudal societies, based upon slavery or serfdom as forms of exploitation, personal relations were more direct, dependence of one man upon another was immediate and personal also, the division of labor was a simple one and the individual was able to express himself directly in his handicraft work. In such societies art had a freshness and a vitality which has been largely lost.

Ruskin and William Morris understood this, but they made the great mistake of imagining that this freshness could be recaptured by a return to an artificial medievalism, instead of by a revolutionary destruction of the private property basis of capitalist society, a mistake from which Morris, under the influence of Marx, began to free himself in the last years of his life.

Creative artists in the nineteenth century felt very deeply the new, impersonal character of the relations between men arising from the concentration of capital. No less deeply did they feel the leveling of their work through the capitalist market. Money makes all things equal—a Michael Angelo to so much oil or soap, if it is purchased by a millionaire with a fortune made from these useful and homely commodities, a play by Shakespeare to a quantity of manure, should a season be run in the West End on the charity of a shareholder in the Imperial Chemical Industries. The nineteenth century novelist

was inclined to resent these simple equations by a savage hatred of the new bourgeoisie. But his hatred blinded him to certain of the positive sides of the new society.

The modern millionaire and his image in the class of which he is the pinnacle is only made possible by the development of science, which he in turn assists because it is profitable to him. In this development of science and in the devoted lives of the discoverers of a new world, in Faraday, Pasteur and Curie, are the real poetry of our age, and the real heroes of our time. But the nineteenth century novelist, shocked by the bourgeois world in which he lived, disillusioned by the final shattering in 1848 of the great dreams of the French Revolution, scared by the appearance of the working class, is unable to see this. A typical attitude is that of the Goncourt brothers who write in their diary for 1857:

"No century has ever bluffed so much, even in the realm of science. For years now the Bilboquets of chemistry and physics have been promising us every morning a miracle, an element, a new metal, solemnly undertaking to warm us with copper plates in water, to feed us or kill us with something, to make us all centenarians, etc. All this is nothing but an immense bluff leading to the Institute, to decorations, to pensions, to the consideration of persons of consequence. And meanwhile, living goes up, doubles, trebles, increases tenfold, whilst the raw materials of nourishment are either lacking or else deteriorate, even death in war makes no progress (that was clear enough at Sebastopol) and a good bargain is always the worst bargain imaginable."

Well, scientists have since proved that they can make great progress in death and at present it is chiefly this negative aspect of their work which impresses the novelist. But science as a power to transform life, the great contradiction between the life and work of the scientist and the use made of them by capitalist society, these are still almost as much ignored by the novelist as materials for his art as they were by the Goncourt brothers.

Throughout the nineteenth century we find the artist engaging in a vain effort to deny the world which imposes upon him

standards he can never accept. Some do so by building their ivory tower and hoisting from its summit the silken banner of art for art's sake. This strange war cry is in fact a challenge to a civilization which denies any value to art at all, save that of money. Art for art's sake is the hopeless answer to art for money's stake, hopeless since ivory was never a good material to choose for fortification.

Some, like Gerard de Nerval, are driven to hang themselves. Others, in desperation, deny their own work. Rimbaud, youthful poet of the Paris Commune, hater of the bourgeoisie and revolutionary experimenter in poetry, buries himself alive in Abyssinia, with savage cynicism trades in arms and human bodies, in all the products of Africa at a time when these have become particularly the objects of the greed of that bourgeoisie he loathed. Gauguin retires to Tahiti to live with the primitive communists of Polynesia and decorates his wattle hut with masterpieces, while Cézanne flings his finished canvasses into a ditch and Van Gogh ends up in an asylum for the insane.

Yet at this very time their friend and defender, Emile Zola, a vague but sincere genius, is darkly groping towards the solution, feeling a new fire at work in him as he comes nearer to the harsh and bitter, but passionate life of the working class. Zola fails, burdened as he is with the false theories of his predecessors which he develops into the fatal and mechanical doctrine of naturalism. But it is a generous failure from which we can learn much.

The secret was there, close at hand. Marx and Engels had revealed how capitalism, in destroying the conditions in which great art can flourish, also creates the conditions in which it becomes possible for art to attain greater heights than ever before in man's history. Yet capitalism is itself incapable of making use of those conditions, of giving birth to this new art. It has for the first time in history created the conditions for a world art, a world literature. It has subdued the whole world to its image, it has so developed technique and production that there is no more reason for the existence of "backward" and "advanced" peoples. I will quote the Communist Manifesto again:

"Constant revolutionizing of production, uninterrupted disturbance of all social conditions, everlasting uncertainty and agitation distinguish the bourgeois epoch from all earlier ones. All fixed, fast-frozen relations, with their train of ancient and venerable prejudices and opinions, are swept away, all newformed ones become antiquated before they can ossify. All that is solid melts into air, all that is holy is profaned, and man is at last compelled to face with sober senses his real conditions of life and his relations with his kind.

"The need of a constantly expanding market for its products chases the bourgeoisie over the whole surface of the globe. It must nestle everywhere, settle everywhere, establish connections everywhere.

"The bourgeoisie has, through its exploitation of the world market, given a cosmopolitan character to production and consumption in every country. To the great chagrin of reactionaries, it has drawn from under the feet of industry the national ground on which it stood. All old-established national industries have been destroyed or are daily being destroyed. They are dislodged by new industries whose introduction becomes a life-and-death question for all civilized nations, by industries that no longer work up indigenous raw material, but raw material drawn from the remotest zones; industries whose products are consumed, not only at home, but in every quarter of the globe. In place of the old wants, satisfied by the production of the country, we find new wants, requiring for their satisfaction the products of distant lands and climes. In place of the old local and national seclusion and self-sufficiency, we have intercourse in every direction, universal inter-dependence of nations. And as in material, so also in intellectual production. The intellectual creations of individual nations become common property. National one-sidedness and narrow-mindedness become more and more impossible, and from the numerous national and local literatures there arises a world literature."

But that world literature is a weakling child, prevented from natural growth by the very conditions of capitalist production which gave it birth. Race and national hatreds, class enmity, the forcible prevention of the national development of weak nations by strong, even sex bias and sex antagonism, the opposition between town and country, the ever-widening division between mental and physical labor that is the result of the mass production of commodities—all these things, arising from the contradictions of capitalist society, are fetters on the growth of a world literature. It follows then, that the solution to the difficulties of the novelist, the solution which can alone restore the epic character of reality to his art form, is a revolutionary one, one that recognizes the truth of our modern society.

5. THE NOVEL AS EPIC

T IS THE MAIN ARGUMENT of this essay that the novel is the most important gift of bourgeois, or capitalist, civilization to the world's imaginative culture. The novel is its great adventure, its discovery of man. It may be objected that capitalism has also given us the cinema, and this is true, but only in a technical sense, for it has proved so far unable to develop it as an art. The drama, music, painting and sculpture have all been developed by modern society, either for better or for worse, but all these arts had already gone through a long period of growth, as long almost as civilization itself, and their main problems were solved. With the novel, only one problem, the simplest one of all, that of telling a story, had been solved by the past.

Yet the novelists did not start off altogether from scratch. They had a certain amount of accumulated experience, an experience we can still use with profit today. As the Middle Ages drew to their close the trading communities of Italy and England produced the first tellers of tales in the modern manner, in which the characters of men and women, the way they did things, began to matter almost as much as what they did. Chaucer and Boccaccio first showed the most important feature of the novelist, a curiosity about men and women. Perhaps you can feel it a little in Malory, but he was writing almost a century later than Chaucer, and though his medium was prose, one

feels that he has fallen a long way behind the poet. True, he was writing in the midst of a society in the full anarchy of decay, but you will find truer Englishmen and women (and sometimes better prose) in the Paston letters than in Malory.

Malory's knights and ladies, his Round Table and his mystic Grael, his killings and his bawdry, have all the elements of that most pernicious form of bourgeois literature, Romanticism. I will not allow Malory to the Middle Ages any more than Scott or Chateaubriand. He tells his tale as well as Scott and his sentiment is seldom so nauseating as Chateaubriand's, but he remains the first great escapist, a man seeking refuge from a present both fearful and repellent in an idealized past. He abandoned realism, or rather, it never existed for him, Chaucer might never have lived, and if Malory ever read the Canterbury Tales he no doubt considered them unpleasantly vulgar. In a sense, Euphues and Arcadia are part of his romantic tradition, as was the Faery Queen. They have their virtues as poetry, or as imaginative prose, but they held back the English imagination from developing in fiction. Perhaps that was no great matter. Dramatic poetry took all the best of our national genius at that time, and the Elizabethan age, though it produced some glorious pub stories and rogues' tales in defiance of the Euphues tradition, did not noticeably advance the novel.

Nor did the seventeenth. But here I think there is a point worth making. H. G. Wells, in his autobiography, lets slip a very profound piece of self-criticism. "Exhaustive characterstudy," he writes, "is an adult occupation, a philosophical occupation. So much of my life has been a prolonged and enlarged adolescence, an encounter with the world in general, that the observation of character began to play a leading part in it only in my later years. It was necessary for me to reconstruct the frame in which individual lives as a whole had to be lived, before I could concentrate upon any of the individual problems of fitting them into this frame."

It is true that novel-writing is a philosophical occupation. The great novels of the world, Don Quixote, Gargantua and Pantagruel, Robinson Crusoe, Jonathan Wild, Jacques Le Fataliste, Le Rouge et Le Noir, War and Peace, L'Education Senti-

mentale, Wuthering Heights, The Way of All Flesh, are great precisely because they have this quality of thought behind them, because they are highly imaginative, inspired, if you like, commentaries on life. It is this quality which distinguishes the first-rate from the second-rate in fiction. It is true that there are philosophers who have lamentably failed to write novels, but no novelist has even been able to create without possessing that ability for generalization about his characters which is the result of a philosophical attitude to life.

The seventeenth century produced no great novels, but it did produce the philosophers who made possible the triumphs of the following century. Somehow I cannot but feel that the eighteenth remains the supreme period in English fiction because it follows so closely upon the supreme period in English philosophy. English philosophy was the creation of the bourgeois revolution in our country, and it was profoundly materialist. "Materialism is the true son of Great Britain," writes Marx. "It was the English schoolman, Duns Scotus, who asked 'whether matter could not think.' "Berkeley, the first English idealist, only inverted Locke's sensualist philosophy, as Sterne only sentimentalized the materialism of Rabelais and the imaginative power of Cervantes.

Rabelais and Cervantes, the real founders of the novel, were more fortunate than their successors in that they did not live in the new society of which they were the heralds. They were men of the transition period, children of the revolutionary storms which broke up medieval feudalism, and they were inspired by the greatest flow of new ideas, the most exciting rebirth that man has ever known in his history (leaving aside the vexed question of whether or not we are today again entering on such a period).

Their two works are still to this day unchallenged for vigor of life, for force of imagination and for richness of language. They stood between two worlds. They were able to mock and to flay the vices of the old world, but they by no means uncritically accepted the new. The same is true of Shakespeare, and, indeed, of all the great figures of the Renaissance. Man has lost in stature since then what he has gained in mastery over

the brave new world which they saw beginning to open before their delighted but not uncritical eyes.

Rabelais asserts the independence of that pathetic, curious and delightful instrument of life, the human body, and gives a new war cry to the mind within that body, the mind which was just discovering life anew, "Do what you will!" He wrought a revolution in language no less astonishing than in thought, as a study of any competent historical grammar of the French language will tell us. Here again is a point to bear in mind—the immense significance of the writer in the revolutionizing of language. After the Renaissance the next great flow of life into the French language came from the romantic movement which was the child of the Great Revolution. The same is roughly true of our own language.

In Cervantes the revolutionary nature of his work is more implicit than explicit. The drama of his view of life expresses itself in the relation between his two chief characters and again in the relation of Quixote and Sancho to the world outside them. In this way his novel marks a step forward from Rabelais, but between them these two forged for the novelist every weapon that he needed. Rabelais gave him humor and the poetry of language, Cervantes gave him irony and the poetry of feeling. They were universal geniuses and no work equal in stature to theirs have since been written in that variegated prose fiction which we call the novel.

It is worth while to note that both were men of action as well as novelists, that both suffered persecution, and that neither of them would have known what Mr. David Garnett meant if he had been able to talk to them about a "pure artist." If they had managed at last to understand that curious and contradictory phrase each would have hugged it, after his own fashion, to his bosom, and then unburdened himself, the one obscenely and happily, the other gravely and ironically, upon such a peculiar and perverted concept.

The novelists, the epic writers of the new society, had therefore a great heritage on which to draw. How did they acquit themselves of their task? In our own country, for a half century or so, with honor, even though they never achieved the

heights which the French and Spanish giants had conquered. The novel was a weapon, not in the crude sense of being a political pamphlet, but in the period of its birth and first healthy growth it was the weapon by which the best, most imaginative representatives of the bourgeoisie examined the new man and woman and the society in which they lived. That is the all-important fact about the eighteenth century writers. They did not shrink from man, they believed in him, believed in his ability to master the world, while they were not for a moment blind to the cruelty and injustice of this world of which their heroes were so much a part.

Fielding has been blamed because he introduced "sermons" into his novels, but if the sermons were all removed, the social criticism would be there just the same, implicit in his story, and we should have lost some of the best essays in the English language. Better to leave the essays and accept the sad truth that Fielding, having lived before Flaubert and the Goncourt brothers, not to mention Henry James, really did not know that there were certain rules in polite literary society which have to be observed in the writing of a novel. He was the first Englishman to understand that the job of a novelist was to tell the truth about life as he saw it, and he told it in his own way. In Jonathan Wild he told it as it has never been told before or since, as even Swift never succeeded in telling it, with a fierce and brutal anger which lives because it is human anger awakened by the degradation of human life.

Fielding has been criticized, notably by Mr. David Garnett in his essay in *The English Novelists*, for lack of imagination expressed in a certain brutality towards suffering. It is true that there were some intimate depths of the human heart which found no expression in his work, he was an objective rather than a subjective writer, and if this limitation is at times a hindrance to his observation, it would be fair to say that the subjectivists, Richardson, Sterne and Rousseau, have probably lost even more by their renunciation of the objective world, and have limited their vision still more severely.

But the accusation of brutality as a reproach to Fielding the novelist is inept as well as unjust. He lived in a brutal world,

the world of conquering capitalism, the period when the English squire was crushing the English peasant out of existence, when the English adventurer was stealing the wealth of the Indies by means as horrible as they were (in the abstract sense) immoral, and when that accumulation of stolen wealth was being made in the country which was to make possible the Industrial Revolution. That strange genius, Warren Hastings, our English revenge on the East for Genghis Khan, was a child in Fielding's day. Walpole was the Prime Minister of his maturity. And the chapters of Jonathan Wild on the great man's share in the proper division of booty and "of hats" are the true reflection of his corrupt and plundering age. As well accuse Fielding of brutality as the author of Lady into Fox of being insensitive to the real life of his own age.*

There is a dualism in the writers of the eighteenth century, not only interesting but important. Defoe, Fielding and Smollett are concerned with a purely objective picture of the world. Their characters have little or no "inner life," and these authors spend no time on analysis either of feeling or of motive, for they are more concerned with describing "how" than "why." This does not exclude "why." Far from it. It is usually sufficiently clear to the reader why a character acts as he does, for the action flows from the character as we know it. In the famous case, for example, where Moll Flanders refrained from murdering the child whom she robbed, it seems clear enough why she refrained, perfectly in keeping with Moll's character as we know it. For Defoe the interesting thing is that she was satisfied with robbery and stopped short of child murder. That appears more interesting than "why." Dostoievsky, however, could have written a whole novel for us entirely around this (relatively) trivial incident, a novel entirely concerned with "why."

The eighteenth century developed a completely new kind of novel, the novel concerned only with the individual's motives

^{*}The "brutal" Fielding, it is worth remembering, instigated some of the most important reforms in the barbarous judicial system of our country. He was also the first man to draw up a scheme for a civilized police force which should inspire public respect and affection rather than fear and hatred.

and feelings, in which the general social picture hardly counts at all. Robinson Crusoe was a supreme affirmation of the individual, but he was an individual who lived entirely outside himself, the typical man of the new world in one sense, but not in another. Crusoe discovered that he alone could conquer the world. It was left to Sterne and to Rousseau to discover that the individual alone was the world. The same thing had happened in philosophy when Berkeley turned Locke's empiricism upside down and produced his philosophy of subjective idealism which admitted no reality outside our own consciousness. It was a revolutionary and far-reaching idea in fiction, this taking of the consciousness of the individual as the starting point of one's picture of the world. It early reached its logical conclusion when Restif de Bretonne dedicated his autobiographical novel Monsieur Nicolas to himself, but if it could sometimes be ridiculous, and if in the end it destroyed the novel, the new method could also be sublime.

The fact is that neither the view of Fielding on reality nor the view of Richardson and Sterne is a complete one. The exclusion of sentiment and analysis, the failure to see the subjective side of the individual, deprived the novel of imagination and fantasy, just as the centering of all action in the individual consciousness deprived it of its epic quality. Such a division in Cervantes was unthinkable. It was the creation of a fully developed capitalist society which had completed the separation of the individual from society, just as in another two generations it was to begin the subdivision of individualists themselves in the completion of its minute and complex division of social labor.

The new school, however, with their disturbing discovery of "sensibility," were the forerunners of a revolution in the novel. Richardson, a little tearfully but none the less truly, disclosed the most intimate feelings of the human heart. Had he only possessed Fielding's steady vision of life and firm hold on reality nothing could have prevented him from becoming one of the world's greatest novelists. It is a vain thing to wish a writer had possessed qualities he most obviously did not have, but this time there is some justification for the silly regret, since

Richardson's failings have inevitably if unjustly reduced him to the position of a museum piece, from being a living writer to an historical and literary "influence."

Sterne carried the retreat from reality even further. Richardson had only been concerned with the feelings of his characters, but he had retained, despite his correspondence form which he borrowed from France and his own domestic experience, the traditions of the story told in time. Sterne at a blow destroyed all this. "To be or not to be" might well be called the central problem of the hero's fate in Tristram Shandy, in a literal sense undreamed of by Hamlet, and so far as this reader is concerned he never could discover for certain whether the problem was adequately solved, despite the complications attending the physical process of Tristram Shandy's birth which are so amusingly described. Sterne murders time in his novel. Shall a novel tell a story? Yes, answer the school of relativists, it may tell a story if it can be a detective story in which the reader seeks for the clew to beginning, middle and end, is continually baffled, and then has it all explained to him later by the author, or, in extreme cases, by the author's friends in specially written commentaries.

Sterne had all the divine gifts of the greatest novelists, he had irony, fantasy, a delight in obscenity, a love of humanity, everything the fairies bring to the genius at birth, everything but one gift, the ability to set his characters to live in a real world. He liked to think of himself as the English Rabelais, he copied Cervantes in the creation of Uncle Toby and Trim, but he was not Rabelais and he was most certainly not Cervantes. These two were discoverers of a new world, they were at war with life as well as in love with life, but Sterne was only the garrulous eighteenth century gentleman trying to reconcile himself with aristocratic society. He is much more amusing and has much more genius than his remote descendant Swann, but it is the same impulse that created the two books. Sterne was the first author to destroy time, to introduce relativism into the novel, but he did it, not in the interests of a greater reality, but because he found it easier that way to talk about himself. What greater reality, asks the idealist, can there be than oneself?

Why, the reality of those who don't like you and think you rather an ass, of course, the reality of those who thought Sterne a self-advertising obscenity and Proust a pretentious social climber. But they were wrong? Yes, they were wrong, though Sterne and Proust by trying so desperately to prove them wrong diminished their own value as *creative* artists.

The real revolutionary of the eighteenth century was, strictly speaking, not a novelist at all, though he was one of the greatest imaginative prose writers of all time. Rousseau held the illusion, fostered by eighteenth century French materialism, that education could change man. Certainly this is not all illusion, and if man's social environment is favorable it may even be true, provided man is also actively working to change himself. Rousseau's theory led him to believe that the influence of nature is one of the most powerful influences which can change man's character for the better. It is a sad illusion, but in cultivating that illusion Rousseau did a great service to literature, for he brought back nature into art. Without him we should never have known Egdon Heath, nor Tolstoi's reapers, nor Conrad's Pacific.

The eighteenth century was the golden age of the novel. The novel of this period did not have the high fantasy of Cervantes and Rabelais who showed how imagination can transform reality by a demon force, but it was not afraid of man and spoke the truth about life with an uncompromising courage. It had wit also, and humor, and it compelled man to understand that the individual had an inner life as well as an outer life. It discovered nature for him and it roused him to consider, in the work of Fielding, Swift, Voltaire, Diderot and Rousseau, that all was not for the best in the best of all possible worlds. It roused him not before it was time, because the world of the eighteenth century was about to die in the greatest revolutionary convulsion of all history. But one thing the century failed to do. It produced no novel which combined the humane realism of Fielding with the sensibility of Richardson, with Sterne's ironic wit and Rousseau's passionate love of nature. Nor was the nineteenth century to succeed any better, though in Balzac and

Tolstoi it came nearer than ever before. Indeed, taken as a whole, the nineteenth century was one of retreat, a retreat which has ended in a panic rout in our own day.

6. THE VICTORIAN RETREAT

sudden halt halfway through the eighteenth century. It seemed as though the genius of the country, which had flowed so naturally into the new epic form, had for a time to find its outlet elsewhere and otherwise. The sentimentalities of Goldsmith and the artificial romanticism of Walpole are a painful descent from the achievements of Smollett, Fielding and Sterne. Such passion for life as there was in the new bourgeoisie sought expression in the religious movement started by John Wesley, while the commercialized aristocracy turned to France for their intellectual fare, or to the moral felicities of the fin de siecle poets. Much of our national genius was diverted also, fortunately for the country, into politics during the critical period of the American Revolution and after.

What had happened? The first half of the century had brought a literary movement only surpassed in our history by the Elizabethans, the second half brought stagnation and decline. The early eighteenth century had not been afraid to examine man as the new bourgeois society had created him. They had not always been particularly pleased with the creature, these poets, satirists and novelists, but they had faithfully recorded him as they found him. But now comes a fear of man, almost a hatred of him. He is no longer a cruel, cheerful, lusty, struggling, and human creature. He is a sinner to be saved. Wherein lies the secret of this fall from grace?

It is to be found in the development of the country itself, in the growing power of money that poisoned the relations between man and man, between man and woman, in the contrast of riches and poverty, in the heartless expropriation of the peasantry and the grim wretchedness of life in the new towns

which were growing up to replace the old market centers and country seats. The American war had been fought and lost by the corrupt oligarchy who misruled the country in the name of the German King. India had been plundered to replace the losses of the war, while no one seemed to understand clearly that the foundation of the first democratic republic five thousand miles away across the Atlantic had changed the history of the world. No one, that is, save a few unknown pamphleteers and one or two rascally politicians.

When the English novelist began to look at man again and tell the epic of English life, so much had changed in the world that the novel was hardly the same thing at all. The instrument had been blunted as well as the vision of the artist. Scott, the first great novelist of this new industrial age, ran away from it altogether into the idealized and romanticized past. He was a revolutionary innovater in one sense, for he first made it clear that it is not enough to look at man, he must also be examined historically. He knew that man had a past as well as a present, and his astonishing and fertile genius attempted to make the synthesis which the eighteenth century had failed to produce, in which the novel should unite the poetry as well as the prose of life, which the nature love of Rousseau should be combined with the sensibility of Sterne and the vigor and amplitude of Fielding.

He failed, but it was a glorious failure, and the reasons are worth examination. It is popular today to deprecate Scott as a mere teller of skillfully contrived and intolerably sentimental stories. Mr. E. M. Forster sees him as that, but Balzac had a different view. Scott is the only novelist to whom Balzac acknowledges a real and deep debt, and with all respect to Mr. Forster, himself our only considerable contemporary novelist, I prefer the view taken by Balzac.

Why did Scott fail in his immense task? Because impenetrable blinkers obscured his vision. If the modern critic would here interject that this is exactly his opinion, I would answer that the blinkers are the same as those obscuring the vision of the modern critic, with the difference that Scott was a genius, even though blinkered. Scott was unable to see man as he is. His

characters are not the real men and women of history, but rather his own idealizations of the early nineteenth century English upper middle-class and commercialized aristocracy. The difference between Scott's characters and the characters of Fielding lies precisely in this fact, that his men and women are idealizations while Fielding's are types.

It had become impossible for the novelist to see his people truly. Even Jane Austen, who almost succeeded, surrenders with every character. She is critical, ironical, analyzes her people truly, shows that they and their problems are incapable of solution within their society, and then tamely surrenders. This is their world of sheltered gentility, there is another outside, but its existence must never, never be recognized. It is almost now as though we are dealing with writers who have been castrated, not physically, but spiritually. To explain it by the puritanism of the new world, particularly the Victorian world, is not enough, for had it been at all possible a great writer would have broken down that puritanism (Byron did so in poetry a generation earlier). The difficulty was that the writer himself saw life in this way. He was incapable of a vision of man as he is, but only of a vision of man as he fitted the new industrial society.

Thackeray disliked the new bourgeoisie and showed his dislike plainly, in scorching satire. So did many a lesser writer, but they never dared to show again the whole man in his relations with the real world as the eighteenth century had shown him. It is not that the Victorians were afraid of sex. Far from it, in their own way, not always a very pleasant way, they could be frank enough about that question. When the worst has been said, Becky Sharp is not so different from the heroines of the Restoration comedy, though she is considerably more polite of speech.

The difficulty was that the Victorian writer could not discuss the real relations between men and women without tearing the veil off the real relations between man and man in society. This was the period of the workhouses, the hungry forties, the Chartist strikes, the Newport rising, the period when for the first time in English history since 1688 a change in the funda-

mental law of the country was carried through under threat of armed force. It was the period of the worship of money and success, the period of factory development when whole tracts of England's most beautiful country were transformed into a wilderness. It was a time of rapacious materialism in public and private life covered by the sickliest hypocritical cloak of idealism. If you told the truth about the Victorian family you could hardly avoid telling the truth about these other aspects also, including Victorian "goodness" and piety in general. Later in the century Samuel Butler, in one of the really great Victorian novels, did tell the truth. His book was published after his death and only won recognition in our own time.

It was not that the Victorians would not see honestly, so much as that they could not. It would be as foolish to blame them for the limitations imposed on them by their age as to ignore their very real achievement. They did revive the English novel, which after its first glorious triumph in the middle of the last century had almost died out. In Dickens they had a genius who restored to the novel its full epic character, whose teeming mind created stories, poems and people which have forever entered into the life of the English-speaking world. Some of his characters have assumed an almost proverbial existence, they have become part of our modern folk-lore, and that surely is the highest any author can achieve. He can only do it by genius, humanity and a feeling for the poetry of life.

But despite all this, Dickens, no more than his contemporaries, was master of his own age. His fantasy, his power of poetic evocation, coupled with his ability to invent endless incident, to portray his people as reflections of all sorts of common and endearing human weaknesses and virtues, won him his public. He was of his age, though he never dominated it. He has been attacked for not being an artist (whatever that may mean in this connection), for being a reader's rather than a writer's writer. So much the worse for the writer then. The same is said of Scott, who was the greatest outside influence on Balzac, the man who dominates the first half of the nineteenth century. Dickens was perhaps the strongest of all foreign influences on Tolstoi, the man who dominates the second half of the century.

Why did Scott not reach to the dominating position of Balzac, or Dickens attain the stature of Tolstoi? Why shall we always find something lacking in the heroes of Dickens and Scott? It was because they could not see through the surface respectability of their society to the progressive degradation of man going on beneath. Because they could not see this process, neither could they truly see the real glory of their contemporaries, the heroic character of their times. The Victorians were well enough aware of the shallowness of the standards of the triumphant middle class, and they could flay that shallowness as well as the next man, but they could not see the deeper processes of spiritual disintegration at work. They could not see the baseness of capitalist society.

The French realists of the nineteenth century were superior to the British in this, as we shall see in the next chapter. They saw clearly, but they also lost their battle, with the one exception of Balzac, in the effort to dominate reality. In the reaction against Romanticism with its false values the French novelists reached a position severely and uncompromisingly critical of bourgeois society, a position made possible, even inevitable, by the greater sharpness of the struggle of classes in France, which made it difficult to retain any illusions. Unfortunately, this critical position became a negative one not only in the social sense, but also in the aesthetic sense. In the end it proved to be not a step to the salvation of the novel by leading to a deeper realism, but a step towards its further disintegration and eventually away from realism.

The English realists retained their illusions about society. They did so by making a compromise with romanticism, that Victorian whore with the mock-modestly averted glance. There is a strange paradox in the fate of the nineteenth century novelist. His predecessors had written frankly: frankly about the physical things of life, about the law, about morals, about property, about love and war. They had written mainly for a very small and highly educated public which considered it one of their class privileges to indulge the luxury of an enlightened and "philosophical" view of the realities of human existence.

Not so with the nineteenth century writer. He was to be

tormented by his public, by that great mass of the semi-educated lower middle class or self-educated working class. There are things you cannot say to the masses if you are a decent middleclass man. A judge who last year tried a case of obscenity against the author of a book on sex quite seriously pointed out that it is all right to describe the pleasures of love for a select public, but that when you write down certain things and make them accessible to any woman of the working class, it is altogether a different affair, calling for both censure and punishment. The nineteenth century English got over this difficulty by their veil of romance. The French took refuge in a dumb and sullen hatred for this public who made possible their existence as writers yet destroyed (as it seemed to them) their conscience as artists. The Russians, who were in a peculiar position, rather like that of the French in the eighteenth century, but with all the advantages of having the progress in the novel made by the other two countries behind them when they started, fared better and were neither forced into compromises nor driven off the field of battle.

It is one of the purposes of this book to try to show some of the difficulties of the novelist in portraying the soul of man. My belief is that this soul can only be adequately pictured by the epic style which is the real secret of the novel's success as an art form. Since Rabelais and Cervantes that epic style had been gradually going through a process of refinement and attrition till by the end of the nineteenth century there was very little of it left, and precious little of the novel, into the bargain. The appearance of the reader on the scene as a force almost as important as the writer, finished off the process. It might, of course, have saved it. It was the complete harmony between the rhapsodist and his audience which made the poetic epic, and clearly enough, if only some such similar harmony between writer and public could have been established, the novel would have developed rather than declined.

Dickens was bombarded with letters begging him to spare the life of Little Nell. Hardy, on the other hand, was abused and threatened with prosecution, while across the Channel, where there was considerable literary integrity and artistic cour-

age, Flaubert, the Goncourts and Zola all had to face criminal prosecution. These were the two extremes between which the shipwreck of the novel seemed inevitable. "Society," by which we mean the ruling class, could not allow the moral perversion of "the public," though it was itself perverting it morally and spiritually with all the immense resources as its command. The author who would continue the grand tradition of the English novel was no longer able to sit apart and observe the life of the nation, to be angry, ironical, pitiful and cruel as occasion demanded. This had been the advantage of the eighteenth century writer, that there was no chance of any but the smallest number of his characters, the wealthy and privileged ones, reading his books. You could be as truthful as you liked about these, for they felt themselves socially secure and had enough of a humane tradition of letters to be able to stand the novelist's scorn without flinching.

But how was it with Dickens? His London read his books. He and his London were one. If he had been able to see the life of Seven Dials as it really was, he would have found the picture overwhelmingly horrible, his name would have become a battle ground, he might even have found the task too great for him and turned away in loathing and disgust from the city he loved. He chose the easier method of sentimentalizing reality. In France the conflict of realism and romanticism was solved along different lines, apparently more honest, though in the end they bore no more fruit. So Dickens, who has some right to be considered the last great English novelist in the grand style, nevertheless failed when judged by the highest standards of his craft. He had fantasy, but not poetry; humor, but not irony; sentiment, but not feeling; he gave a picture of his age, but he did not express his age; he compromised with reality but he did not create a new romanticism.

Apart from Dickens, who has something of the universal genius, the novel in Victorian times disintegrates as it becomes more specialized. In place of *Tom Jones* we have a humorous novel, an adventure novel, a novel of the open road, a crime novel, and so on. Where Cervantes could combine imagination and poetry with humor and fantasy, we now have the purely

imaginative and poetic novel, the purely humorous and fantastic. Certainly, the attempt finally to divide the subjective from the objective attitude to life, already clear in the eighteenth century, is suspended till our day, the period of the crisis of the individual. On the whole, however, the nineteenth century is a period of the break-up of the traditional form. Mr. Forster's approach to the novel in his book Aspects of the Novel, is a reflection of this, with its division into novels of "story," novels of "fantasy," novels of "prophecy." The division is not altogether conscious, but it is there none the less.

In fact, it is the conditions of nineteenth century capitalism which create and enforce this artificial division, which has nothing to do with the character of the novel itself. Where, it will be objected, are the conditions of nineteenth century capitalism in such a purely "prophetic" novel as Emily Brontë's Wuthering Heights? Surely no materialist view could explain this book? What relation has it to the nineteenth or any other century? It is beyond time and space, immortal, primeval and elemental as the passion which gives the book its life. It is the novel become pure poetry.

Wuthering Heights is certainly the novel become poetry, it is beyond all doubt one of the most extraordinary books which human genius has ever produced, yet it is these things only because it is a cry of despairing agony wrung from Emily by life itself. The life of mid-Victorian England, experienced by a girl of passion and imagination imprisoned in the windswept parsonage on the moors of the West Riding, produced this book. Charlotte expressed the thwarted, lonely lives of these girls in the sublimated love of Rochester and Jane Eyre, in the burning story of Lucy Snowe in Villette. Emily could not be satisfied with this. Her love must triumph, and in the violent, horror-laden atmosphere of the stone farmhouse on the moors, it did triumph. Catherine and Heathcliffe are the revenge of love against the nineteenth century.

"My fingers closed on the fingers of a little, ice-cold hand! The intense horror of nightmare came over me: I tried to draw back my arm, but the hand clung to it, and a most melancholy voice sobbed, 'Let me in—let me in!' 'Who are you!' I asked,

struggling, meanwhile, to disengage himself. 'Catherine Linton,' it replied shiveringly. ... 'I'm come home: I'd lost my way on the moor!' As it spoke, I discerned, obscurely, a child's face looking through the window. Terror made me cruel; and, finding it useless to attempt shaking the creature off, I pulled its wrist onto the broken pane, and rubbed it to and fro till the blood ran down and soaked the bedclothes: still it wailed, 'Let me in!' and maintained its tenacious grip, almost maddening me with fear. 'How can I!' I said at length. 'Let me go, if you want me to let you in!' The fingers relaxed, I snatched mine through the hole, hurriedly piled the books up in a pyramid against it, and stopped my ears to exclude the lamentable prayer. I seemed to keep them closed above a quarter of an hour; yet, the instant I listened again, there was the doleful cry moaning on! Begone!' I shouted, I'll never let you in, not if you beg for twenty years.' 'It is twenty years,' mourned the voice: 'twenty years. I've been a waif for twenty years!' "

It is the most terrible passage in English literature in the nineteenth century, but it is not, even in the intensity which gives it such life, outside of space and time. For the words of agony are wrung from Emily by her own time and no other age could have tortured her so sharply, twisted the words of aching, awful suffering out of her in accents of such terrifying force. Through the book, with the grotesque and horrid echo of a chorus, runs the complaint of the farm-hand Joseph, the canting, joyless, hating and hateful symbol of the obscene morality of his age, as though the prison walls themselves are endowed with voice to mock and spurn the prisoner.

The present writer was born and brought up less than a dozen miles from Haworth parsonage, in a society that had not fundamentally changed since the days of the three sisters, where the freaks of Bramwell were still remembered, and he sees nothing in Emily's novel that is "pure" poetry in the sense in which that odd phrase is used by those who love it so. It is the most violent and frightful cry of human suffering which even Victorian England ever tore from a human being.

Indeed, the three greatest books of the age were all such cries of suffering. Wuthering Heights, Jude the Obscure and

The Way of All Flesh, were the manifestoes of English genius that a full human life in a capitalist society was impossible of attainment. The love of woman for man was a waif driven shrieking on to the cold moors, the love of man for his children brought them to that awful end in the Oxford lodging-house, the end the farmer gives to his pigs, while honesty, intelligence and simplicity bring your nineteenth century hero to prison whence he can only be ransomed and given freedom by the unexpected gift of Aunt Alethea's £70,000 in North-Western Railway shares. These three books are a long way from Dickens, they belong indeed to another world from that of Dickens, and they are, in a sense, only mighty fragments, mutilated statues. In them, however, the real tradition of the novel is kept alive, and the writer of the future will acknowledge them as his inspiration when he attempts the task of conquering reality, that ceaseless creative war in which Dickens hauled down the battle flag to replace it by a blameless white flag of sentimental compromise.

7. THE PROMETHEANS

ARX concluded one of his articles in the New York Tribune during 1854 with a reference to the Victorian realists: "The present brilliant school of novelists in England, whose graphic and eloquent descriptions have revealed more political and social truths to the world than have all the politicians, publicists and moralists added together, has pictured all sections of the middle class, beginning with the 'respectable' rentier and owner of government stocks, who looks down on all kinds of 'business' as being vulgar, and finishing with the small shopkeeper and lawyer's clerk. How have they been described by Dickens, Thackeray, Charlotte Brontë and Mrs. Gaskell? As full of self-conceit, prudishness, petty tyranny and ignorance. And the civilized world has confirmed their verdict in a damning epigram which it has pinned on that class, that it is servile to its social superiors and despotic to its inferiors."

About the same time as these words appeared in the New York paper, Flaubert in physical agony was writing to his friend Louis Bouilhet: "Laxatives, purgatives, derivatives, leeches, fever, diarrhea, three nights without any sleep, a gigantic annoyance at the bourgeois, etc., etc. That's my week, dear sir." English and French novelists were alike faced with the same problem, that of giving artistic form and expression to a society which they could not accept. In England they only succeeded in the end by a kind of compromise with reality, but the whole history of France made such a compromise impossible in that country. No country of the modern world had passed through such terrific struggles as France, with her great revolution followed by twenty years of wars in which French armies marched and counter-marched across the feudal states of Europe till the final catastrophe of 1814.

Napoleon was the last great world-conqueror, but he was also the first bourgeois emperor. France was only able to support that vast war machine because in those years she began to catch up her rival England, to develop her industries, to introduce power machinery on a large scale, to create a great new internal market from her liberated peasantry. When the process was completed, a generation after Napoleon's fall, you had the strange paradox that a completely new France, a France in which money spoke the last word, a France of bankers, traders and industrialists, was being ruled by the feudal aristocracy whom the revolution had apparently smashed into fragments. Yet the heroic tradition of this new France with its old rulers remained essentially revolutionary, on the one hand the Jacobin of '93, on the other the soldier of Napoleon.

Balzac, the great genius of the century, consciously set himself the task of writing "the natural history" of this society, Balzac who was himself a monarchist, a legitimist and a Catholic. His Comédie Humaine, that encyclopedic study of human life, was a revolutionary picture of his age, revolutionary, not because of the intention of its author, but because of the truth with which the inner life of his time is described. Engels, in his letter to the English novelist, Margaret Harkness, has emphasized the truth of Balzac's realist method: "Balzac, whom I

consider a far greater master of realism than all the Zolas, passés, présents et à venir, in his Comédie Humaine gives us a most wonderfully realistic history of French society, describing in chronicle fashion, almost year by year, from 1816 to 1848, the progressive inroads of the rising bourgeoisie upon the society of nobles that reconstituted itself after 1815, and that set up again as far as it could the standard of la vieille politesse française. He describes how the last remnants of this, to him, model society, gradually succumbed before the intrusion of the vulgar, moneyed upstart, or were corrupted by him, how the grande dame, whose conjugal infidelities were but a mode of asserting herself, in perfect accordance with the way she had been disposed of in marriage, gave way to the bourgeois who gains her husband for cash or customers; and around this central picture he groups a complete history of French society, from which, even in economic details, for instance, the rearrangement of real and personal property after the Revolution, I have learned more than from all the professed historians, economists and statisticians of the period together. Well, Balzac was politically a legitimist; his great work is a constant elegy unto the irreparable decay of good society; his sympathy is with the class that is doomed to extinction. But for all that his satire is never more cutting, his irony more biting than when he sets in motion the very men and women with whom he sympathizes most deeply—the nobles. And the only men of whom he speaks with undisguised admiration are his bitterest political antagonists, the Republican heroes of the Cloître-Saint-Merri, the men who at that time (1830-36), were indeed the representatives of the popular masses. That Balzac was thus compelled to go against his own class sympathies and political prejudices, that he saw the necessity of the downfall of his favorite nobles and described them as people deserving no better fate; that he saw the real men of the future where, for the time being, they alone could be found—that I consider one of the greatest triumphs of Realism, one of the greatest features in old Balzac."

Balzac has himself explained in the Preface to the Comédie that he saw man as the product of society, saw him in his natural environment, and that he felt the same desire to study him

scientifically as the great naturalists feel who study the animal world. His political and religious views were those of the old feudal France, but this attitude to man, this conception of the human comedy, was the product of the Revolution, of the Jacobins who so ruthlessly smashed the social fetters on French society, of the marching soldiers who brought the monarchies of Europe to their knees before the leadership of Napoleon. Balzac, indeed, was France's literary Napoleon, for he destroyed feudal ideas in literature, as thoroughly as the great soldier destroyed the feudal system in politics. In Restoration France criticism of capitalist society, of the new capitalist social relations, was concealed under the medieval disguise of romanticism. The extravagances of the Romantics in their personal lives, quite as much as their extravagances in art, were a protest against the present as well as an escape from it. Balzac neither protested nor escaped. He had all the imagination, the poetry and even the mysticism of the Romantics, but he rose above them and showed the way to a new literature by his realist attack on the present. He was able to conceive the reality of contemporary life imaginatively, to conceive it almost on the scale on which Rabelais and Cervantes had conceived it. It was his fortune, however, to have lived in the early part of the century, when the force and fire of that immense outburst of national energy which made the Revolution and the Napoleonic epic, was still able to make itself felt in the literary movement of the thirties and early forties.

It was a long way from Balzac to the Flaubert whose dominant passion was hatred and disgust of the bourgeoisie, who signed his letters "Bourgeoisophobus" and suffered such physical and mental agony in the long years of creative work he gave to a single novel on the life of this hated and despised class. Balzac was consciously proud of his political views, of his royalism and catholicism. The Goncourt brothers wrote in their Diary that their disillusionment in the good faith of politicians of all sorts brought them, in the end, to "a disgust in every belief, a toleration for any kind of power, an indifference towards political passion which I find in all my literary friends, in Flaubert as well as myself. You can see that one should die for

no cause, that one should live with any government there is, no matter what one's antipathy to it, and believe in nothing but art, confess no faith but literature."

So many writers since, of considerably less talent than the two Goncourts and whose names cannot even be mentioned in the same breath with Flaubert, have professed (and still profess) a similar outlook, that it is worth our while to seek the origin of this apparent disillusionment and detachment from life. I say "apparent" because in Flaubert's case at least (he was a great writer) there was no detachment, but a bitter battle to the death with that bourgeois society he hated so violently.

The Goncourts knew Balzac personally, their diaries are full of anecdotes about that vital and Rabelaisian genius. Flaubert, like themselves, also overlapped him in his creative work. Whence comes the great difference between the master and the disciples, a difference not in time but in outlook that divides them like a gulf? The energy engendered by the Revolution and its heroic aftermath had died out by the advent of Flaubert's generation. The bitter struggle of classes and the real predatory character of capitalist society had become so clear, that they aroused only disgust; whereas Balzac, still inspired by the creative force that built this society, sought only for understanding.

The democratic and Jacobin ideals of '93, in the mouths of the liberal politicians of the nineteenth century had become intolerable and monstrous platitudes. The real leveling character of capitalism was becoming apparent, its denial of human values, its philosophy of numbers that covered its cash estimate for all things human and divine. The old aristocracy whose corruption Balzac had drawn in such masterly fashion was nothing but a decayed shadow of its old self, an obscene ghost muttering and grumbling in the forgotten drawing rooms of provincial country houses, or else indistinguishable from the new nobility of hard cash. Socialism, only known to Flaubert and his friends in its utopian form, seemed to them as stupid and unreal as the worst extravagances of the liberal politicians who daily in word and deed betrayed their great ancestors. (That Flaubert considered them great ancestors there is plenty of evidence: "Marat is my man," he writes in one letter.) Socialism was only another form of the general leveling of all values which so revolted them, and rendered the more disgusting because of its sentimental idealizing (it seemed to them) of the uneducated mob.

The period of 1848 saw the end of many illusions. Who after that bitter experience would ever again believe that fine words could butter parsnips? The June days, in which the Paris workers took the spinners of phrases at their word and fought in arms for liberty, equality and fraternity, were the writing on the wall. Flaubert was a novelist, not a student of the social history and economic machinery of mankind, and to him the June days merely proved that flirting with empty slogans roused dark forces who were a threat to the very existence of civilized society. The dictatorship of the blackguard Louis Napoleon which followed was just a dictatorship of blackguards, the apotheosis of the bourgeois, and all that could be expected from the follies of preceding years. So the Education Sentimentale is a bitter and mercilessly ironical picture of the end of all the fine illusions of the liberal bourgeoisie, illusions which the red flag and rifle shots of June, 1848, shattered forever. After that the vulgarity of the Empire. Nothing would be the same again and one could resign oneself to the long process of social decay and destruction of civilization by this stupid and miserly bourgeoisie, with its wars, its narrow nationalism and its bestial greed.

It might be thought that between Flaubert's theory of godlike objectivity of the artist and Balzac's theory of the natural history of social man there is no great difference. In fact, there is all the difference in the world. Balzac's scientific views were possibly naive and incorrect, but in his view of life he was truly realist. He looked at the human society historically, as something struggling and developing through its struggles. In Flaubert life becomes frozen and static. After 1848 you could not observe and express life in its development because that development was too painful, the contradictions were too glaring. So life became for him a frozen lake. "What appears beautiful to me," he writes to his mistress, "what I should like to do, would be a book about nothing, a book without any attachment to the external world, which would support itself by the inner strength of its style, just as the world supports itself in the air without being held up, a book which would be almost without a subject, or in which the subject would be almost invisible, if that is possible. The most beautiful books are those with the least matter. The nearer the expression comes to the thought, the more the word clings to it and then disappears, the more beautiful it is."

Once this view was accepted the way was clear for the new "realism" which took the slice of life and described it minutely and objectively. But life, of course, proved too restive a creature to slice up artistically, so the novelist grew finicking about the choosing of his slice, demanding that it be cut off such a refined portion of life's anatomy that in the end he came to describe little more interesting than the suburban street, or the Mayfair party. Revolting against the narrow view imposed on their vision by this theory, others drew their inspiration from Freud and Dostoievsky in order to give us the poetic picture of their own stream of consciousness. So in the end the novel has died away into two tendencies whose opposition has as little about it that is important to us as the medieval battles of the schoolmen.

Flaubert, however, was an honest man and a great artist. If his successors were content to avoid the task of mastering the reality of their age and substitute the "slice of life" or the subjective stream of consciousness, he was not prepared to make any such easy surrender. His letters are the confession of a most frightful struggle with a life, a reality, that had become loathsome to him, but which nevertheless must be mastered and given artistic expression. No man has ever raged against the bourgeoisie with the hatred of Flaubert. "I would drown humanity in my vomit," he writes, and he does not mean humanity as a whole, but only the capitalist society of nineteenth century Europe, immediately after the Paris Commune of 1871.

Letter after letter describes his struggle to find expression. He takes two months to write the tavern scene for *Madame Bovary*, the duration of which in the novel itself is only three

hours. Over and over again he mentions that in the last month he has written some twenty pages. Can this be explained simply by his devotion to the perfect phrase, to the exact word? Is it an artist's conscience which will be satisfied with nothing less than perfection in style? Hardly that. He himself says that the works in which the greatest attention has been paid to style and form are mostly second-rate, and in one place declares outright that he is not sure if it is possible to find a criterion for perfection in style. When he writes of the great authors of the world, it is enviously: "They had no need to strive for style, they are strong in spite of all faults and because of them; but we, the minor ones, only count by our perfection of execution. ... I will venture a suggestion here I would not dare to make anywhere else: it is that the very great often write very badly and so much the better for them. We mustn't look for the art of form in them, but in the second raters like Horace and La Bruyère."

Yet Flaubert did not live in physical and mental agony, shut up in his country home among people he despised, because he was a second-rate artist seeking formal perfection. No, he was a great and honest artist striving to express a world and a life he hated and his whole artistic theory was the result of the compromise enforced on him in that struggle. "Art must in no way be confused with the artist. All the worse for him if he does not love red, green or yellow, all colors are beautiful, and his job is to paint them.... Look at the leaves for themselves; to understand nature one must be calm as nature." Or again, the famous letter in which he sums up his credo: "The author in his work must be like God in the universe, present everywhere and visible nowhere; art being a second nature, the creator of this nature must act by similar methods; in each atom, in every aspect, there must be felt a hidden and infinite impassibility."

Flaubert himself failed utterly to live up to his precepts. Such a god feels neither love nor hate. Flaubert's whole life was animated by hate, a holy hatred of his age which was a kind of inverted love for man deceived, tormented and debased by a society whose only criterion of value was property. He gave

his view of that society at last in the irony of Bouvard and Pécuchet, a novel which arose out of his scheme for a "Dictionary of Accepted Ideas" in which you were to find "in alphabetical order on every possible subject everything which you need to say in society to be accepted as a respectable and nice fellow."

Flaubert, like Dickens, was a great writer faced with the problem of giving a true picture of a society whose very premises were rapidly becoming a denial of the standards of humanism once looked on as our common heritage. Dickens solved his problem by the compromise of sentimental romanticism. English conditions made it inevitable for him. Flaubert, who lived in the France of June, 1848, of the Third Empire, the Franco-Prussian War and the Commune, had to take another road. Not only his own temperament, his uncompromising honesty, forbade the path of sentimentality (how easy that would have been for a less great man, Daudet was to show), but the harsher reality of French life irrevocably closed that path for him. He stood apart from the struggle, with infinite pain created for himself an unreal objectivity, and tried to isolate by means of a purely formal approach, certain aspects of life. Poor Flaubert, who suffered more terribly than any writer of his time in his effort to create a picture of life, who more than any man felt the real pulse of his age, yet could not express it, this man of deep passion and intense hatred, has suffered the sad fate of becoming that colorless thing, the highbrow's example of the "pure artist." Why we should admire a "pure artist" more than a "pure woman" is one of the mysteries of the age. Why not just an artist, and a woman? They are both interesting and they both suffer, but not in order to be beautiful.

There was one contemporary of Flaubert's who went through the same agony of creation, who tormented himself for weeks in order to find the precise words to express the reality he was determined to dominate and refashion in his mind. This other artist wrote and rewrote, fashioned and refashioned, loved and hated with an even greater intensity and finally gave the world the mighty fragments created by his genius. His name was Karl Marx and he successfully solved the problem which had broken every other of his contemporaries, the problem of understanding completely the world of the nineteenth century and the historical development of capitalist society.

"From form is born the idea," Flaubert told Gautier, who regarded these words as being "the supreme formula" of this school of "objective" realism, worthy to be carved on walls. Content determines form, was the view of Marx, but between the two there is an inner relationship, a unity, an indissoluble connection. Flaubert's ideal was to write a book "about nothing," a work of pure formalism, in which the logical was torn apart from the factual and historical. In its extremest form, as developed by Edmond de Goncourt, Huysmans and others, this became a pure subjectivism, which converted the object into the passive material of the subject, the novelist, who in turn was reduced to a mere photographer.

Lafargue, Marx's son-in-law and a keen critic of the French realists, has contrasted the two methods: "Marx did not merely see the surface, but penetrated beneath, examined the component parts in their reciprocity and mutual interaction. He isolated each of these parts and traced the history of its growth. After that he approached the thing and its environment and observed the action of the latter upon the former, and the reverse. He then returned to the birth of the object, to its changes, evolutions and revolutions and went into its uttermost activities. He did not see before him a separate thing for itself and in itself having no connection with its environment, but a whole complicated and eternally moving world. And Marx strove to represent the life of that world in its various and constantly changing actions and reactions. The writers of the school of Flaubert and Goncourt complain of the difficulties the artist encounters in trying to reproduce what he sees. But they only try to represent the surface, only the impression they receive. Their literary work is child's play in comparison with that of Marx. An unusual strength of mind was called for in order to understand so profoundly the phenomenon of reality, and the art needed to transmit what he saw and wished to say was no less."

Lafargue rightly estimates the creative method of Marx, and correctly shows the deficiencies of Flaubert's method, though

he does not understand that Flaubert himself in his heart of hearts was aware of its deficiencies. Neither does Lafargue realize the forces which drove Flaubert and the Goncourt brothers to adopt their artistic method. The diary has some interesting light to throw on this last point. In 1855, Edmond writes that "every four or five hundred years barbarism is necessary to revitalize the world. The world would die of civilization. Formerly in Europe whenever the old population of some pleasant country had become suitably affected with anaemia, there fell on their back from the North, a lot of fellows six feet tall who remade the race. Now there are no more barbarians in Europe and it is the workers who will accomplish this task. We shall call it the social revolution."

In the midst of the Commune he remembered this prophecy. "What is happening," he wrote, "is the complete conquest of France by the working class population, and the enslavement of noble, bourgeois and peasant beneath its despotism. The government is slipping out of the hands of the possessing classes into the hands of those with no possessions, from the hands of those who have a material interest in the preservation of society, into the hands of those who have no interest in order, stability and conservatism. After all, perhaps in the great law of change of things here below, the workers, as I said some years ago, take the place of the barbarians in ancient society, the part of convulsive agents of destruction and dissolution."

Neither Flaubert nor the Goncourts saw the working class as anything but a purely destructive agent. They did not suffer from any illusions about bourgeois society, they hated its greed, its narrow nationalism, its lack of values, its general leveling tendency and degradation of man, but they saw no alternative to this society, and here is the fundamental weakness of their work. After Flaubert, critical realism could progress no further, for his tremendous labors had exhausted the method. Either the novelist must again see society in movement, as Balzac had done, or he must turn into himself, become completely subjective, deny space and time, break up the whole epic structure. There was also a further difficulty, one that had been growing for more than a hundred years, and was now reaching its

acutest tension, the difficulty of a unified outlook on life, of the ability to deal with human character at all.

The great novelists of the Renaissance had not felt this difficulty. For them humanism had given direction to their ideas and inspired their work. The Renaissance produced its great philosophers, though at the end of the period rather than the beginning, in Spinoza, Descartes and Bacon. Certainly, even here the main division in human thought is apparent in the conflict of Descartes and Spinoza, but in the seventeenth and eighteenth centuries it was not yet so violent as to destroy all philosophic unity. The English and French realist novelists on the whole had a similar view of life, their work in consequence gains in completeness and force. In the nineteenth century, however, the period when all the violent contradictions of the capitalist social system became clear, when wars and revolutions destroy the last feudal strongholds in Europe and the modern nations are formed, there is no longer any philosophical unity. Kant and Hegel have so developed idealism that it temporarily overwhelms the realist, materialist philosophies. The century is one without a unified view of human life, so that it becomes more and more difficult for the novelist to work except in a minor, specialized way, by isolating some fragment of life or of individual consciousness. Flaubert's letters are full of this feeling, and he describes his vain efforts to master the philosophers, his rifling of the works of Kant, Hegel, Descartes, Hume and the rest. All the time he feels the desire to get back to Spinoza, as the Goncourts felt the desire to get back to the dialectic thought of Diderot. But in the end they give up the search for a philosophical basis as being impossible of fulfillment in the contemporary world.

It is the tragedy of Flaubert and his school that they so continually and acutely felt their own insufficiency, were so conscious of the great superiority of the masters of the past, Rabelais, Cervantes, Diderot and Balzac. Sometimes they almost blundered on the reason for this, and there is a passage on Balzac in the Goncourt diary which comes so close to the truth and is so significant for the writer today, that it will perfectly sum up the argument of this chapter.

"I have just reread Balzac's Peasants. Nobody has ever called Balzac a statesman, yet he was probably the greatest statesman of our time, the only one to get to the bottom of our sickness, the only one who saw from on high the disintegration of France since 1789, the manners beneath the laws, the facts behind the words, the anarchy of unbridled interests beneath the apparent order, the abuses replaced by influences, equality before the law destroyed by inequality before the judge, in short, the lie in the program of '89 which replaced great names by big coins and turned marquises into bankers—nothing more than that. Yet it was a novelist who saw through all that."

8. DEATH OF THE HERO

T SEEMS an unnecessary platitude to emphasize that a novel should be chiefly concerned with the creation of character. Unfortunately, except in a formal sense, this is no longer in fact the chief concern of modern novelists. Novels today are concerned with almost everything but human character. Some, like those of Mr. Huxley, are concerned with the Encyclopædia Britannica and the idiosyncrasies of one's personal acquaintances, others, like those of D. H. Lawrence, are highly colored descriptions of the author's own moods, or else they are political arguments, like the majority of the works of H. G. Wells, or mild social satire, like a hundred books by Tom, Jane, Emily and Harry (certainly, social satire is a legitimate theme for the novelist, has indeed produced some of the world's greatest novels, but even the satirist, or rather, the satirist above all, is not exempt from the obligation to make human character the center of his work).

Human personality, however, has disappeared from the contemporary novel, and with it the "hero." The process of killing off the hero was inevitable in the development of the nineteenth century novel. The decay of realism compelled it. Flaubert, in writing Madame Bovary, was still chiefly interested in the woman herself, though his creative method made him expend

his energy almost as much on the painting of a perfect genre picture of the Norman province as on the personality of Emma. But Edmond de Goncourt was already thinking in terms of writing a novel about the stage, about a hospital, about prostitution, rather than about people. Zola continued with novels on war, on money, on prostitution, on the Paris markets, on alcoholism, and so on. Arnold Bennett, the faithful disciple of the French realists, wrote an excellent novel about his father and his own youth, and then, seized with the fatal desire to write "the history of a family" ruined his early work by two sequels. Similarly, he wrote one of the best novels of pre-war England about two old ladies whom he had known in the Potteries, and then descended to writing about a newspaper proprietor, an hotel, prostitution (yes, indeed, just like a hundred others!) and so on.

The Goncourts were careful artists, and it is still possible to read their works with some pleasure. Zola had all the vitality and creative power of genius and his novels are also still readable because of the passion in them. But all the thousands of "realist" studies by those who are neither artists nor men of passion and genius are unreadable within a month of publication day. The modern novelist, abandoning the creation of personality, of a hero, for the minor task of rendering ordinary people in ordinary circumstances, has thereby abandoned both realism and life itself. This is true not only of the professed realists of the "objective" school, but also of the novelists of purely subjective psychological analysis. Indeed, the latter can claim the credit for having reduced the creation of character to absurdity, even though to an occasionally magnificent and talented absurdity, for James Joyce is so determined to portray the ordinary man that he takes the most ordinary, "mean" man he can find in Dublin, and so intent is he on picturing him in "ordinary" circumstances that he introduces his hero perched on the closet seat.

This is in effect the denial of humanism, of the whole Western tradition in literature (indeed, of the common view of man that world literature as a whole gives us, for the East has its humanism also). The whole modern approach to the problem of creation is by means of the isolation of life from reality, and eventually, through the destruction of time and the inner logic of events, the mutual interaction of the characters and the outer world is lost; it is an approach which in the end kills creation by denying the historical character of man. Indeed, the bourgeoisie cannot any longer accept man in time, man acting in the world, man changed by the world and man changing the world, man actively creating himself—historical man, because such acceptance implies condemnation of the bourgeois world, recognition of the historical fate of capitalism and of the forces at work in society which are changing it.

In the novels of the great period of the nineteenth century the hero whom we meet most frequently is the young man in conflict with society and finally disillusioned or vanquished by it. He is Stendhal's only hero, Balzac frequently puts him in the center of the stage, he is the principal figure of almost every Russian novel, and you can find him in England also from Pendennis down to Richard Feverel, Ernest Pontifex and Jude. This irreconcilable youth, idealistic, passionate and unhappy, is the individualist who cannot fit into the society which accepts egoism for a religion. For it seems that the century recognized two forms of egoism, sacred and profane, and for the sacred egoists there was no place, only despair, hypocrisy, the breaking of the will and eventual loss of faith.

This youthful hero, it is safe to assume, was in most cases only the imaginative recreation of the author's own youth, or of some phase of his personal struggle with a society that did not and could not accept his humanism, his views on personal happiness, on property, on the relations between the sexes. Flaubert's letters are full of his bitter hatred and contempt for the bourgeois society which would compel the artist to conform at every point to its petty ideals of respectability founded in ignorance and supported on a solid basis of hard cash. Flaubert and his fellow-intellectuals, among them many of the best and most honest minds of the nineteenth century, saw the root of all social evil in compulsory education and universal suffrage. For them the first meant education in conformity to bourgeois ideals and the second was identified in their minds with the plebiscite

which had confirmed in power the bourgeois dictatorship of Napoleon the Little.

The reaction against the monotony, the baseness of life in capitalist society of the nineteenth century prevented the novelist from understanding and mastering some of the most interesting aspects of human life in the century. That he should, on the whole, have ignored the working class was natural. The novelist had no contact with the worker, looked upon him as the inhabitant of a strange, incomprehensible world, and only later, after the Paris Commune, began seriously the difficult effort of exploring that world. Edmond de Goncourt writes frankly that he feels like a police spy when gathering the materials for a novel of "low life," but that he is drawn to it "perhaps because I am a well-born literary man, and the people, the 'canaille,' if you like, attract me like an unknown, undiscovered nation, with something of the 'exotic' that travelers look for with a thousand sufferings in distant lands." For most writers the working class has still merely this attraction of the "exotic," regardless of the fact that it is impossible to create human personality from such a viewpoint. With one or two rare exceptions (Mark Rutherford, for example) the novelist has never succeeded in drawing convincing men and women of the working class, and, because of this difficulty in breaking down the barrier between "the two nations," has rarely even tried the task.

But it is more remarkable that two other types of man should have been excluded from imaginative literature by the bourgeois novelist, two types who really played a decisive part in the history of capitalist society, the scientist and the capitalist "leader," the millionaire ruler of our modern life.

Of the world's supreme scientists, Archimedes, Galileo, Newton, Lavoisier, Darwin, Faraday, Pasteur and Clerk Maxwell, four are Englishmen and three of these are Englishmen of the nineteenth century. Humphrey Davy, first of the great physical scientists in nineteenth century England, was the intimate friend of Southy, Coleridge, Wordsworth and the novelist Maria Edgeworth. There can have been few more interesting Englishmen than the chemist Dr. Joseph Priestley, yet he has not even had the tribute of a good biography (possibly because he

was neither a Jesuit, an eccentric, nor a Tory). You may search in vain through the work of the really good novelists of the nineteenth century for so much as a recognition that the existence of science should mean more to man than the existence of public lavatories, a useful, necessary, but unpleasant convenience. Both are excluded from the field of literature. Even in our own day, when science is fully recognized and the lavatory has its honored place in literature, it is only a few rather second hand writers who have recognized the right of the scientist to be placed at least on a par with the prostitute and the actress as a subject for art.

Do not imagine that this is a plea for the scientist to be recognized as "a subject" as de Goncourt recognized the actress or Zola the slaughter house and Arnold Bennett the luxury hotel. The scientist is not a subject, he is a type of man whose creative mind approaches that of the great artist, he is a part of human life and no possible picture of human life in the modern world is complete which ignores him. There are two reasons why this kind of man, one of the really creative forces of our time, has been ignored by the novelist. The first is that the novelist is himself so ignorant of science, so apart and separated from the region of scientific creation in this world of narrow specialization and division of labor, that the whole of this vital field of the human personality remains a closed book for him. The second reason is that the very conditions of social life have prevented the novelist from exploring the scientific personality. Science is one of the demiurges of our world, yet it is also enslaved and corrupted by our world. It would have demanded a fearless realist to portray the scientist in the nine-teenth century, one who would have been willing to brave religion and the prejudices of the ignorant, as well as to expose commercial corruption and the very roots of the social system. And in our own day he would have to be ready to go even further, to show society using science to destroy science.

I have mentioned that the novelist ignored one other development of human personality, not the least important in the century, by any means. In all the considerable achievement of the nineteenth and twentieth centuries in fiction you will search

.

in vain for a picture of the great business man, the man who organized the building of railways, the construction of steel mills, the getting of diamonds out of the African earth, and the cutting of canals through the swamps and deserts to link up the oceans. Perhaps the nineteenth century novelists are not so much to blame here. Before 1870 the man who really counted in business was the banker and Balzac dealt faithfully with him. The manufacturer was a relatively small man who had not yet allied himself with finance to rule the world, and, in fact, this small manufacturer or business man is not ignored by the great realists. It is otherwise in the last third of the century and in our own day. Where is Cecil Rhodes, or Rockefeller, or Krupp? Dreiser alone has tried to picture the career of such a man, but in general the artist has shied away from him as from the devil. Yet there is no reason why the devil should be denied imaginative treatment. Milton found him quite amenable. And if Edward Campion, the Jesuit Martyr, is worthy the attention of a talented writer, then why not Ivar Kreuger, capitalist martyr to the collapse of the god "prosperity"?

The artist of the Renaissance did not shrink from describing a villain. Shakespeare would have said that life was not complete without a villain. It would be very unfair to imagine that the villain is merely negative, that he has no positive features or is a mere symbolic embodiment of evil. True, your modern capitalists only superficially resemble the Renaissance adventurers. Where the latter were violent, bloody and cruel in the open, the former are so in the dark, or leave the violence and cruelty entirely to their agents; where the Renaissance prince was grandly lecherous in a wild experimental way, as though he were discovering life in the human body, your modern plutocrat is inclined to secret perversions, and his orgies resemble more a Folies Bergères revue than a Borgia's banquet.

Yet there are remarkable men among the plutocrats. Rhodes was as remarkable as he was unpleasant. Northcliffe was a genius as well as a madman. You cannot separate these men from much of the poetry of modern life, from the conquest of matter that made possible the modern newspaper which can give you a photograph of a king dying from an assassin's

bullet almost as soon as the shot is fired, thanks to the discoveries of modern physics. The movements of great nations, the passionate sacrifices of men and women for mighty causes, are also bound up with the lives of plutocrats.

They have no place, however, in imaginative literature, the writer shrinks from them, fears the awful forces that will be let loose in his pages if once he tries to recreate such a personality in fiction. Better therefore to take the quiet world of Swann, the gardens, the drawing rooms, the long conversations and the delicate analyses of feeling, the more refined perversions of flesh and spirit; these are, it is true, the reflections of the world of your millionaires who own the lives of nations and control the fate of great civilizations, but they are reflections so delicately isolated, so far removed from the real world that created Swann, the Duchess and Monsieur de Charlus, that we may safely ignore this world's existence.

So in our modern novel both hero and villain have died. Personality no longer exists except in iridescent cuttings pasted on the microscope slide. Such cuttings are often exceedingly curious, interesting or beautiful, but they are not living men and women. With the destruction of personality, replaced by the average individual in the average situation, or by an aspect of a personality mechanically isolated in a part of his consciousness, has gone the destruction of the novel's structure, its epic character. Man is no longer the individual will in conflict with other wills and personalities, for today all conflict must be overshadowed by the immense social conflicts shaking and transforming modern life, and so conflict also disappears from the novel, being replaced by subjective struggles, sexual intrigues, or abstract discussion.

In place of a unified philosophical outlook that was maintained with some success (despite the divergent trends of materialism and idealism) from the Renaissance to Kant, from the sixteenth to the end of the eighteenth century, there has come a complete collapse of any unified world outlook, a philosophical eclecticism, the decadent pseudo-philosophies of will and intuition of Nietzsche and Bergson, the erotic mysticism of Freud, the subjective idealism of the various neo-Kantian schools, and finally

the denial of the human reason, the renunciation of the Renaissance and of humanism, which are the inevitable outcome of this philosophical decadence, itself only a reflection of the desperate agonies of political counter-revolution. Our civilization began with Erasmus, Rabelais and Montaigne. It ends with the return to medievalism, the doctrines of blood and race, with religious and erotic mysticism, Spengler, Otman Spann, Freud and the rest. The grand first declaration of independence of the individual becomes in our time no more than a declaration of the death of the individual in the name of the sanctity of individualism.

In the absence of a world outlook, of an understanding of life, no full and free expression of human personality is possible. The novel cannot find new life, humanism cannot be reborn, until such an outlook has been attained. That outlook today can only be the outlook of dialectical materialism, giving birth in art to a new socialist realism. Marx and Engels in their book The Holy Family, written as long ago as 1844, pointed out that humanism today has no meaning apart from socialism. "If man constructs all his knowledge, perception, etc., from the world of sense and his experiences in the world of sense, then it follows that it is a question of so arranging the empirical world that he experiences the truly human in it, that he becomes accustomed to experiencing himself as a human being. . . . French and English socialism and communism represented this coincidence of humanism and materialism in the realm of practice."

More than one reader will no doubt have objected as he read this argument that the generalizations are altogether too sweeping. Do we really have no creative writing (in this highest sense of imaginative creation of human character) in *Ulysses* or *Swann's Way?* Did not Wells in his early work, for all his own modest denials, succeed in giving us character, and Lawrence, and has not Huxley?

It is true that in the character of Bloom we do get from Joyce a human personality. But Bloom is the only character in Ulysses. Daedalus has not much more flesh and blood to him than Conrad's Marlowe, the various Dubliners encountered in that Odyssey of a day are simply reminiscences from the author's

circle of acquaintance, good description, shrewd analysis, but not created characters. And Bloom himself, is this really a picture of a man? Perhaps it is ninety per cent of a man, photographed rather than created, yet it is most certainly not what the author would have us believe it to be, man abstracted and made into a symbol of all the "plain men" of the twentieth century. Bouvard and Pécuchet were also intended as a realistic photograph of the French Blooms, and they very nearly succeed in being something more, in becoming almost a heroic recreation of the "little man" about whom we hear so much today. Yet not quite. Flaubert did not know anything about the modern psychological discovery of man's subconscious. Joyce did, and one cannot help thinking that it has not been altogether to his advantage. Flaubert, after all, though he was deprived by time of the new revelation of Freud, had at least read, enjoyed and understood Rabelais. Joyce had only hated the Jesuits.

Nor, I think, can Proust claim a much greater success than Joyce. True, he understands men and women better, but these world-weary ghosts in the Paris drawing room are still only shadows. Some critics have suggested that Proust is not a novelist at all, but an essayist, a modern Montaigne. There is some truth in this, if we overlook the comparison with Montaigne. Proust cannot claim a place among the master novelists because he lacks the most important qualification, he has not mastered life with sufficient intensity to make his people live a complete life of their own, a life in which you can ask them any question and force an answer.

With Wells, Lawrence and Huxley, we are on a lower level. Kipps, Mr. Polly and the rest are little more than idealized projections of their own creator and such pathos as they have is his rather than their own. Huxley, I feel, has much in common with Wells, the same passion for ideas which gives a vitality to his books that they would never derive from their characters alone, the same interest in science and the same inability to come to any satisfactory conclusion with the hard facts of life in the contemporary world. He is, indeed, what Wells would have

been if he had gone to Eton and Oxford instead of to Bromley Grammar School and South Kensington.

Lawrence has little claim to be considered a novelist at all, for after the brilliant beginning of Sons and Lovers and The Rainbow, he abandoned novel writing altogether for those strange, beautiful and mystical poems in prose which are the bulk of his stories and tales. Here are no men and women of flesh and blood, but simply moods. Compare, for example, The Rainbow with its deplorable sequel Women in Love. Who would ever believe that the abstractions of the latter novel had any relation at all to the passionate sisters in the first book? And how pale, how lifeless, is even that early theme of love and marriage in The Rainbow compared with Tolstoi's treatment of the same subject in the marriage of Levine and Kitty! Something happened to Lawrence after writing The Rainbow which completely destroyed his creative ability. His significance for the modern novelist, I think, lies not at all in his prophetic nonsense about the primitive, but in the fact that he was the last writer to appreciate English country and the beauty of the English earth. One cannot, however, think passionately even about English country and the English earth if one is unable to see that this earth is not free, that the heritage of every Englishman is being wantonly deformed and destroyed by a tiny group of ignorant and conscienceless landlords. Hardy had the ability to see this and Lawrence had not, so, though Lawrence wrote better English, it is Hardy's vision of the English country which is more compelling.

It is the central task of the English novelist to restore man to the place that belongs to him in the novel, to put in a complete picture of man, to understand and imaginatively recreate every phase of the personality of contemporary man. Man's consciousness is extended, it is bursting free of the bonds imposed on it by capitalist society, it is desirous of using all the wonderful opportunities modern life puts at its disposal through the growth of rapid communication by land and air, through the development of cinema, wireless and television, through the possibility of living in houses whence vile and degrading labor has been abolished. It cannot yet do these things. Only a very few men,

the masters of the capitalist world, can use the wonderful creations of modern life, and these men use them, not for further development of the human spirit, but for its total destruction. Yet in almost every man and woman, in the Indian and Chinese as much as the Englishman and Frenchman, the consciousness that the enjoyment of life can even now be deepened and extended is there. That consciousness is being transformed into action, into the effort to make a new world. A new era of human liberation is beginning.

The question then arises, what manner of men and women are we to describe in our books? How are we to see human beings in action? To whom can we look for guidance? The new realism it is our task to create must take up the task where bourgeois realism laid it down. It must show man not merely critical, or man at hopeless war with a society he cannot fit into as an individual, but man in action to change his conditions, to master life, man in harmony with the course of history and able to become the lord of his own destiny. This means that the heroic must come back to the novel, and with the heroic its epic character. Hazlitt, writing of Shakespeare's characters compares them with Chaucer's, and gives us, in the course of the comparison, a clear understanding of how a novelist who has a realist view of life should picture men:

"Chaucer's characters are sufficiently distinct from one another, but they are too little varied in themselves, too much like identical propositions. They are consistent, but uniform; we get no idea of them from first to last; they are not placed in different lights, nor are their subordinate traits brought out in new situations; they are like portraits or physiognomical studies, with the distinguishing features marked with inconceivable truth and precision, but that preserve the same unaltered air and attitude. Shakespeare's are historical figures, equally true and correct, but put into action, where every nerve and muscle is displayed in the struggle with others, with all the effect of collision and contrast, with every variety of light and shade. Chaucer's characters are narrative, Shakespeare's dramatic, Milton's epic. That is, Chaucer told only as much of his story as he pleased, as was required for a particular purpose. He

answered for his characters himself. In Shakespeare they are introduced upon the stage, are liable to be asked all sorts of questions, and are forced to answer for themselves. In Chaucer we perceive a fixed essence of character. In Shakespeare there is a continual composition and decomposition of its elements, a fermentation of every particle in the whole mass, by its alternate affinity or antipathy to other principles which are brought into contact with it. Till the experiment is tried we do not know the result, the turn which the character will take in its new circumstances."

This view of character, entirely lost from the novel, is the one that the revolutionary novelist must restore. Not for him the fear of reality, the shrinking from showing the full man. His is the task from which the novelists of the bourgeoisie have turned away, to create, by his imaginative effort, the typical man, the hero of our times, and in this way to become, as Stalin has phrased it, "an engineer of the human soul."

9. SOCIALIST REALISM

emphasized its epic and historical character. You cannot, he insists, show man complete unless you show him in action. The novelist, he writes in one of the introductory chapters to *Tom Jones*, is not a mere chronicler, but an historian. His work, therefore, should not resemble "a newspaper which consists of just the same number of words, whether there be any news in it or not." The novelist, as opposed to the chronicler, must use the method "of those writers, who profess to disclose the revolutions of countries." That is to say, he must be concerned with change, with the relation of cause and effect, with crisis and conflict, and not merely with description or subjective analysis.

He explains, in another chapter, even more exactly, the role of the novelist, who must possess the faculty of "penetrating into all things within our reach and knowledge, and of distinguishing their essential differences." The qualities here called for he terms "invention and judgment," and at once denies that invention is simply the ability to create incident or a situation. "By invention is really meant no more (and so the word signifies) than discovery, or finding out; or to explain it at large, a quick and sagacious penetration into the true essence of all the objects of our contemplation. This, I think, can rarely exist without the concomitancy of judgment; for how we can be said to have discovered the true essence of two things, without discerning their difference, seems to me hard to conceive."

This is excellent sense, as excellent sense as any man has ever written upon the writing of novels, and its author not unjustly heads the chapter of *Tom Jones* in which it is contained, "of those who lawfully may, and of those who may not, write such histories as this." The other qualities of a lawful novelist, or historian, as Fielding calls him, should be learning, and he mentions that Homer and Milton, the epic poets whom he acknowledges as his masters, "were masters of all the learning of their times," and after learning, the ability to "be universal with all ranks and degrees of men."

When the novelist again accepts Fielding's view of his functions, we shall have a new realism. Yes, a new realism, for clearly the discovery of the essence of things in our day, the ability to see essential differences, the ability to be universal with all men, cannot result in the mere restoration of the novel of Fielding or of Dickens. Today penetration into the essential differences must mean the revelation of those contradictions which are the motive forces of human actions, both the inner contradictions in a man's character and those external contradictions with which they are inextricably connected. We cannot today be universal with all men unless we are able to understand how the relations between men have changed since Fielding's time.

Modern psychology has without doubt accumulated a mass of important material upon human character, in particular upon the deeper, subconscious elements in man, which the novelist must take into account. Yet this does not imply for a moment that these collections of psychological data can of themselves

explain all human actions or human thoughts and emotions. Not all the work of Freud, Havelock Ellis or of Pavlov can allow the novelist to abdicate his function to the psychologist. The Marxist certainly denies the right of the psychologist to explain all processes of human thought or changes in the human psyche by purely subjective causes such as the Oedipus complex or any other of the formidable array of complexes in the psychoanalytical armory. You cannot give a picture of man in his individual "revolutions," as demanded by Fielding, you cannot truly penetrate the human personality in order to recreate it imaginatively, when bound by the purely biological view of the mental life which is presented by Freud, or by the purely mechanistic view of Pavlov and the reflexologists. Certainly, the modern psychologists have added enormously to the store of our knowledge of man, and the novelist who today neglected their contributions would be as ignorant as he is foolish, but they have failed entirely to see the individual as a whole, as a social individual. They have provided the basis for that false outlook on life which in Proust and Joyce has led to the sole aim of art being, instead of the creation of human personality, the dissociation of human personality.

Psychoanalysis, for all its brilliant and courageous probing into the secret depths of the personality, has never understood that the individual is only a part of the social whole, and that the laws of this whole, decomposed and refracted in the apparatus of the individual psyche like rays of light passing through a prism, change and control the nature of each individual. Man today is compelled to fight against the objective, external horrors accompanying the collapse of our social system, against fascism, against war, unemployment, the decay of agriculture, against the domination of the machine, but he has to fight also against the subjective reflection of all these things in his own mind. He must fight to change the world, to rescue civilization, and he must fight also against the anarchy of capitalism in the human spirit.

It is in this dual struggle, each side of which in turn influences and is influenced by the other, that the end of the old and artificial division between subjective and objective realism will come. We shall no longer have the old naturalistic realism, no longer have the novel of endless analysis and intuition, but a new realism in which the two find their proper relationship to one another. Certainly, the modern realists, the heirs of Zola and of Maupassant, have felt the inadequacy of the method of their masters. But lack of dialectic, of a philosophy which enables them really to understand and to perceive the world, has led them along the false trail of supplementing that naturalism by a creaking, artificial symbolism. This is the gravest fault of those endless, powerful, but unsatisfactory works of Jules Romains and Céline.

How is it possible to make this combination, to break down the old division within bourgeois realism? First of all by restoring the historical view which was the basis of the classical English novel. Here let me emphasize that this does not imply merely the need for plot and narrative, for it is living man with whom we are concerned, and not merely the external circumstances in which man has his being. This is the mistake made by many Socialist novelists who have used all their talent and energy to depict a strike, a social movement, the construction of socialism, a revolution or a civil war, without considering that what is supremely important is not the social background, but man himself in his full development against that background. Epic man is man in whom no division any longer occurs between himself and his sphere of practical activity. He lives and changes life. Man creates himself.

It is only the fairest self-criticism to acknowledge that neither the Soviet novel nor the novels of Western revolutionary writers have yet succeeded in fully expressing this, with a few rare exceptions. There is the best of excuses. The events themselves, the Russian civil war, the construction of socialist industry, the revolution in the life of the peasant, the fight against exploitation and the defense of the working class against fascism, all these things appear so heroic, so impressive, that the writer feels that by merely writing them down the effect must be overwhelming. Indeed, it is often of the greatest emotional significance, but an emotional significance which, nevertheless, is only that of first-class journalism. The writers do not add

thereby to our knowledge of man, or really extend our consciousness and sensibility.

The historical event, Engels wrote in the letter from which I quoted in the second chapter of this essay, is anything but a simple addition of I + I = 2, a direct relation of cause and effect. "History makes itself in such a way that the final result always arises from conflicts between many individual wills, of which each again has been made what it is by a host of particular conditions of life. Thus there are innumerable intersecting forces, an infinite series of parallelograms of forces which give rise to one resultant—the historical event."

Both Engels and Marx considered Shakespeare to be the one author who solved in a supreme way the problem of the presentation of the human personality. Shakespeare's characters are their ideal of how the Marxist writer should present man, as being at one and the same time a type and an individual, a representative of the mass and a single personality. Engels in his interesting letters to Lasalle criticizing the latter's historical drama Franz von Eickingen, considers that the chief defect is Lasalle's adoption of Schiller's dramatic method in preference to Shakespeare's "realism." "You are perfectly right," Engels says, "to reject the prevalent stupid individualization, which comes down to mere petty philosophizing and represents an essential sign of a declining, epigone's literature. I think, though, that a personality is characterized not merely by what he does, but also by how he does it, and from that aspect it would not, I think, hurt the ideal content of your drama if the various characters were rather more sharply demarcated and opposed to one another. In our times the characterization of the ancients is already insufficient, and here, I think, you might well consider rather more the importance of Shakespeare in the history of the development of the drama."

Marx and Engels would certainly have agreed with Hazlitt's view of the Shakespearian treatment of character as "a continual composition and decomposition of its elements, a fermentation of every particle in the whole mass, by its alternate affinity or antipathy to other principles which are brought in contact with it. Till the experiment is tried, we do not know the result, the

turn which the character will take in its new circumstances." This quality of unexpectedness, which shall at the same time be in accord with the inner logic of the historical event and of the character himself, is precisely what Engels had in mind when he wrote that what emerges from the conflict of individual wills "is something that no one willed."

It will be easily understood from what I have said so far of the Marxian view of realism that it does not at all correspond with the popular illusion concerning revolutionary, or proletarian, literature, that such literature is little more than a scarcely disguised political tract. Marx and Engels were clearly of the opinion that no author could write oblivious to the class struggles of his time, that all writers, consciously or unconsciously, take up a position on these struggles and express it in their work. Particularly is this so in the great creative periods of world literature. But for that form of writing which substitutes the opinions of the author for the living actions of human beings, they always possessed the greatest contempt. As early as 1851, in an article in the New York Tribune, Engels writes extremely critically of the literary movement in Germany from 1830 to 1848. "A crude Constitutionalism, or a still cruder Republicanism, were preached by almost all writers of the time. It became more and more the habit, particularly of the inferior sorts of literati, to make up for the want of cleverness in their productions, by political allusions which were sure to attract attention. Poetry, novels, reviews, the drama, every literary production teemed with what was called 'tendency,' that is, with more or less timid exhibitions of an anti-governmental spirit."

In the letter to Miss Harkness on Balzac, written nearly forty years later, he is even more explicit. "I am far from finding fault," he tells her, "with your not having written a pinchbeck Socialist novel, a 'tendenz Roman' as we Germans call it, to glorify the social and political views of the author. That is not at all what I mean. The more the opinions of the author remain hidden, the better for the work of art. The realism I allude to, may crop out even in spite of the author's opinions." What Marx and Engels did insist upon, however,

was that a work of art should conform to its author's outlook on the world, since only that outlook could give it artistic unity. But the author's own views must never obtrude. The outlook must not be preached, it should appear quite naturally from the circumstances and the characters themselves. This is true tendentiousness, the kind that has informed all great works of art, that can be seen, as Engels told yet another would-be Socialist novelist, Minna Kautsky, Karl's mother, in both Aeschylus and Aristophanes, in Dante and Cervantes, in the contemporary Russian and Norwegian novelists who "have produced splendid novels, all tendentious. But I think that tendency should arise of itself out of the situation and action, without being specially emphasized, and that an author is not obliged to give the reader a ready-made historical future solution of the social conflicts he depicts."

He develops this view further in the same letter by pointing out that in modern conditions the author's public must largely be drawn from the bourgeoisie, and that "therefore, in my view the socialist tendentious novel completely fulfills its mission in describing real social relationships, in destroying relative illusions concerning them, in upsetting the optimism of the bourgeois world, in sowing doubt as to the eternal nature of the existing social order, even though the author did not thereby advance any definite solution and sometimes did not even come down on one side or the other."

It is not the author's business to preach, but to give a real, historical picture of life. It is only too easy to substitute lay figures for men and women, sets of opinions for flesh and blood, "heroes" and "villains" in the abstract for real people tortured by doubts, old allegiances, traditions and loyalties, but to do this is not to write a novel. Speeches mean nothing if one cannot understand all the processes of life behind any speech. Certainly characters may have, and should have, political opinions, provided they are their own and not the author's. Even though in some cases a character's opinions coincide with those of the author, they should be expressed with the voice of the character, and this in turn implies that the character must possess his own individual voice, his personal history.

A revolutionary writer is a party writer, his outlook is that of the class which is struggling to create a new social order, all the more reason therefore to demand from him the widest sweep of imagination, the utmost creative power. He fulfills his party mission by his work in creating a new literature, free from the anarchist individualism of the bourgeoisie in its period of decay, and not by substituting the slogans of the party on this or that question of the day for the real picture of the world his outlook demands from him. He will be unable to make that picture a true one unless he is truly a Marxist, a dialectician with a finished philosophical outlook. Or, as Fielding would have put it, unless he has made a real effort to master the learning of his time.

Such a view of the artist implies that he excludes nothing from his perception of life. Proletarian literature is still very young, less than ten years old outside of the Soviet Union, and the reproach has often been made that, at least in capitalist countries, it has tended to deal only with certain men and with limited aspects of these men. The strike leader, the capitalist "boss," the intellectual seeking a new faith, beyond these, it is suggested, the new writers have not ventured far, and they have succeeded only to a slight extent in showing us even these characters as men of flesh and blood. The reproach is to some extent justified, though it ignores the epic stories of Malraux, the two novels of Ralph Bates, the work of John Dos Passos and Erskine Caldwell. Yet there is no human character, no emotion, no conflict of personalities outside the scope of the revolutionary novelist. Indeed, he alone is able to create the hero of our times, the complete picture of modern life, because only he is able to perceive the truth of that life. Yes, there have been few novels by revolutionaries free of those faults criticized by Marx and Engels. Much has yet to be done before the new literature is able to fulfill its tasks, and it will always remain true that you must have great novelists before you get great novels. On the other hand, the skeptic would do well to remember that in the grim battle of ideas in the world of today, the majority of the best of the writers of the bourgeoisie have begun to move sharply to the Left and that this movement has brought them into contact with declaredly revolutionary writers. From this contact we may be justified in hoping there will come the fertilization of genius which we are seeking, for it should have been made sufficiently clear in this essay that the revolutionary both accepts all that is vital and hopeful in the heritage of the past, and rejects nothing in the present which can be used to build the future.

10. MAN ALIVE

HAT SORT OF MAN are you going to show in your new picture of life? the reader may feel inclined to ask at this point. How are you going to get that stubborn, wayward, quarrelsome and passionate creature into the pages of your book? Man at war within and without himself, man suffering, man in love, man hating, man defending his property, revolutionary man, what are you going to do about him?

Fair questions, though difficult to answer. Let us try one of these men, the revolutionary, and, in particular, the revolutionary of the working class. After all, though not every revolutionary novel is bound to portray revolutionaries, or even the life of the working class, such novels must in the end stand or fall by their ability to create an artistic picture of the revolutionary as a type and as an individual man. So far, let us admit it, we have not succeeded. The least credible figures in the novels written about revolution are the revolutionaries. This is true even of the very best of these novels, by men like Sholokhov, Malraux and Bates. Sholokhov's Communist heroes have energy, force, will power, they are alive and they are convincing, but they are nevertheless flat surfaces, rather than men in the round. Malraux and Bates draw characters who are rarely convincing as men but often as Communists. The psychology of the professional revolutionary (the man whose whole life is devoted to revolutionary organization and leadership) is not that of the Malraux or the Bates hero.

Of course, we must remember that the revolutionary in the sense of the individual whose life is devoted to the service of a revolutionary cause, is a new character created by capitalist society, particularly in the nineteenth century. He appears in the work of Victor Hugo; Flaubert acknowledges his existence, but only sees him in his worst form, the lower middle-class politician of 1848, the type analyzed with such deadly truth in the works of Marx and Engels on the revolution of '48; Meredith also, strangely enough, is attracted by him and tries to give a picture of the Italian revolutionary nationalist in Vittoria and Sandro Bellini.

Dostoievsky and Turgeniev, attracted and repelled at the same time by the Russian anarchist movement, take the strange, revolting figure of Nechaiev, Bakunin's friend and evil genius, and using his image they try, unjustly, to pillory the whole of the Russian progressive movement of the mid-century in their novels *The Possessed* and *Smoke*. Much later, in our own time, Conrad used Nechaiev for the same purpose in his novel *Under Western Eyes*, though Conrad had a different political aim from his greater predecessors.

One thing distinguishes all these novelists. They took their revolutionaries from the petty bourgeoisie, from the nationalist, democratic or anarchist movements of the last century. They build up his image critically, now repelled by this individualist in political revolt against society, now attracted by certain features in him. When we think of them, we have to admit that Marx and Engels, revolutionaries themselves, made a much more severe, yet much more satisfactory attack on this type of revolutionary, more satisfactory because they saw his relation to the real revolutionary of our day, the revolutionary of the working class against capitalist society. Their criticism was not negative, it was the active criticism of two men seeking to arm humanity for the greatest task in its history.

The working class revolutionary nevertheless did make his appearance in nineteenth century literature, and not unworthy. Zachariah Coleman, Mark Rutherford's printer hero of the Revolution in Tanner's Lane, has the vitality that makes immortality. The novel itself has glaring faults, almost all possible

faults, in fact, but it lives by the sincere and powerful force of its characterization, Zachariah, Jean Caillaud, the two Paulines, by the sober prose which expresses so perfectly those passionate and unhappy democrats.

Zachariah "was by nature a poet; essentially so, for he loved everything which lifted him above what is commonplace. Isaiah, Milton, a storm, a revolution, a great passion—with these he was at home." There is no gap in his life between the poetry of his vision and the prose of his life. The poverty, the first unhappy marriage, the bitterness of oppression, the prison, the religious doubt, all these in Zachariah become his indomitable will to change life, his poetry of revolution which finds for a moment its earthly satisfaction in his second marriage with Pauline.

This union of prose and poetry in his life keeps him loyal to himself so that at the end of his life the old republican can tell the radical ironmonger from Tanner's Lane: "I believe in insurrection... Insurrection strengthens the belief of men in the right.... Insurrection strengthens, too, the faith of others. When a company of poor men meet together and declare that things have got to such a pass that they will either kill their enemies or die themselves, the world then thinks there must, after all, be *some* difference between right and wrong."

Your revolutionary printer from Long Acre or Shoe Lane would express himself differently today, but he would not be what he is if Zachariah Coleman and thousands like him had not lived. Coleman's simplicity, his naive belief that good must triumph over evil, are sometimes pathetic to us when we see them so easily abused, yet his force, his poetry, his belief in his class are still a source from which the revolutionary of today can draw his strength. In the course of the novel Coleman's faith never changes, but he himself does, he lives, he is beaten, he will not surrender, and his character develops in his battle with life.

Another and a greater book than Rutherford's is, however, the true revolutionary epic of the century. Certainly, it is a historical novel, its subject is the war of liberation of the Flemish people against their Spanish oppressors, and at times it is perhaps closer even to folk-lore than to history. Yet the author of *Tyl Ulenspiegel*, Charles de Coster, was well aware that his novel was a revolutionary one for our time also. In that introduction which the late Sir Edmund Gosse spared the delicacy of English readers, de Coster is emphatic on the modern uses of his Owl Glass, and does not hesitate to say that there are other Spaniards and other Inquisitors to be fought and vanquished in our own day. Here again is the poetry of revolution merged with the prose of life, only the inspiration of de Coster's poetry was the folk-lore of Flanders, rather than that Old Testament which inspired Zachariah Coleman.

De Coster not only wrote a modern epic in the real sense, he showed an intuition, a psychological knowledge far beyond his time, such as none of our disciples of Freud has ever equaled. For a good reason, since his psychology was the result of the observation of life and not learned second-hand from textbooks. In this book in which the poetry of earth and of common life, gross good humor, warm sensuality, faithful love, courage and devotion are mingled with hatred of the rich and powerful, loathing of humbug and hypocritical religion, is expressed the very essence of man's revolt against oppression. It is a world book. Tyl, when he bursts from his grave, sneezing and shaking the sand from his hair, is the symbol of the resurrection of the ordinary man to fight for a world where man has no dual values, but only himself, free and master of life. He scares the burgomaster and the alderman, those wretched representatives of the world of the Pharisees, and seizes by the throat the curé who had praised God for the death of Ulenspiegel the Beggar.

"Inquisitor!" said Tyl, "thou dost thrust me into the earth alive in my sleep. Where is Nele? hast thou buried her, too? Who art thou?"

The curé cried out:

"The great Beggar returneth into this world. Lord God! receive my soul!"

And he took to flight like a stag before the hounds.

Nele came to Ulenspiegel.

"Kiss me, my darling," said he...."Can any bury," said

he, "Ulenspiegel the spirit and Nele the heart of Mother Flanders? She, too, may sleep, but not die. No! Come, Nele."

And he went forth with her, singing his sixth song, but no man knoweth where he sang the last one of all.

That last song is still to be sung, but we know the burden of it.

And the will-o'-the-wisps said:

"The fire, 'tis we, vengeance for the bygone tears, the woes of the people; vengeance for the lords that hunted human game upon their lands; vengeance for the fruitless battles, the blood spilt in prisons, men burned and women and girls buried alive; vengeance for the fettered and bleeding past. The fire, 'tis we: we are the souls of the dead."

At these words the Seven (vices) were changed to wooden statues, Ulenspiegel set fire to them so that they were burned and reduced to ashes, a river of blood ran down, and from out of the ashes rose up seven other shapes; the first said:

"Pride was I named; I am called Noble Spirit." The others spake in the same fashion, and Ulenspiegel and Nele saw from Avarice came forth Economy; from Anger, Vivacity; from Gluttony, Appetite; from Envy, Emulation; and from Idleness, the Reverie of poets and sages. And Lust upon her goat was transformed into a beautiful woman whose name was Love.

And the will-o'-the-wisps danced about them in a happy round.

Then Ulenspiegel and Nele heard a thousand voices of concealed men and women, sonorous and laughing voices that sang with a sound as of castanets:

When over land and sea shall reign
In form transfigured all these seven,
Men, boldly raise your heads to Heaven;
The Golden Age has come again.

These two books, Revolution in Tanner's Lane and Ulenspiegel, gain much of their force from being soaked in the national spirit, in the spirit of the people of England and of Belgium. Coleman is flesh and blood of all the struggles of the poor people of England, he comes straight from the Luddites,

through the Puritans of the seventeenth century to the Wesleyan miners of the eighteenth and so to the early Chartists. He is a militant Protestant of the kind which has never been acceptable to our rulers, and his fierce protestantism is still continued today, stripped now of its religious covering, in the modern labor movement. Tyl is Robin Hood and Coleman mixed, he is earth and spirit, the sturdy Beggar and the answer of man's soul to the Inquisition. He is folk-lore made life to stir our own blood until it runs warmer and quicker.

The contemporary writer finds no such ease in writing of the common man as did de Coster or Mark Rutherford. The working man or woman torments him. It is not simply because working people are inarticulate. Many of them are so, but as a whole they are not more noticeably inarticulate than the mass of human beings. A certain school of American writers, of which Hemingway is the best known, has created a type of brutal, but simple and inarticulate working man. He is hard-boiled, and the genius of Hemingway has made for him a forceful, simple speech of monosyllables with which he goes out uncomplainingly, because unconsciously, to meet his unenviable fate as boxer, bullfighter, gunman, quick-lunch server, stable boy or soldier. "Dumb cattle," Wyndham Lewis has termed this working people of the American novelists. They certainly are very passive material for that malignant dirty deal which life so continually hands them.

Is this a true picture of the worker? It is certainly not. Even the London casual worker of the seventies and eighties, that most miserable of human beings, could hardly be said to fit this picture. Engels protested vigorously against the tendency, common to some Socialist novelists as well as to your modern American individualists, to picture the working class as a dumb and unresisting mass. He condemns this attitude in the letter to Miss Harkness from which I have quoted before:

"Realism, to my mind, implies, besides truth of detail, the true reproduction of typical characters in typical circumstances. Your characters are typical enough as far as they go; but the same cannot be said of the circumstances in which they move and which drive them to action. In City Girl [the title of

Miss Harkness's novel], the working class figures as a passive mass, incapable of helping itself, not even desiring to make the effort to help itself. All attempts to get out of this deadening poverty proceeds from outside, from above (in the words of Saint Simon that class is 'la plus pauvre, la plus souffrante, la plus nombreuse,' 'the poorest, most debased class,' as Robert Owen says). But if this was a true description in 1800 or 1810, the time of Saint-Simon or Robert Owen, it is not so in 1887, especially for a man who for almost fifty years has had the honor of participating in the struggle of the militant proletariat and has always been guided by the principle that the emancipation of the working class must be the act of the working class itself. The revolutionary resistance of the working class against the oppression of its environment, its feverish attempts, conscious or half-conscious, to obtain its human rights are a part of history and may demand a place in the sphere of realism."

This false view of the working class with which Engels reproaches Miss Harkness is held in our own day by the great majority of intellectuals and particularly of fiction writers. If anything, they hold it with even greater force, for they feel that on the one hand the growth of extreme mechanization, expressed in mass production, has destroyed the worker's personal initiative, converting him into a mere appendix of the machine; on the other hand, overcome by horror of fascism, they are inclined to blame the worker, whose machine-like obedience, in their view, makes such mass slavery possible. In this way their complaints are an echo of Flaubert's, who blamed the masses for having helped create (through universal suffrage) the dictatorship of Louis Napoleon Bonaparte.

Nothing could be further from the truth of working-class life. A mere glance at strike statistics and a summary of the causes of strikes, is enough to prove the falseness of such a conception. In fact, it is the working class alone which struggles against the effort to convert the mass of mankind into mechanical robots, the working class alone which bears the burden of the battle against the offensive of the machine or man. Not a day passes without some incident, of greater or less gravity, occurring in every factory of any size. It may be an

isolated and trivial individual protest, such as swearing at a charge hand, or it may be a more serious collective action, but the battle is unceasing.

Plays by Elmer Rice and others of the "expressionist" school, Huxley's Brave New World, dozens of such books, plays and films have fostered the idea of the growth of a mechanical man, uniformed, a cipher, a mere working ant. It is a hopeless distortion of the truth, the consequence of the intellectual's isolation from the real human struggle of the age, of his despair at being unable to see any force at work against the mechanization he dreads. Yet every strike, indeed every day of life in the workshop, develops individual initiative, resource, courage and character as part of the revolt of man against this effort to enforce the enslavement of his body and mind, against the mechanical pressure of his environment. Certainly, one cannot overlook that the effort at enslavement in the factory is accompanied by an even more dangerous and tremendous offensive on men's minds. We rarely read a newspaper, watch a film, criticize a play or novel, objectively, from the standpoint of the established values of civilized life. If we were to use these values as our criterion, it would be hard to resist the conclusion that most of the mass-produced intellectual life of our age was the product of raving madmen, suffering from every form of mental and moral perversion.

The educational system, firmly in the hands of capitalism, makes it more difficult for men and women to resist this insidious attack on their minds through the medium of the senses. Corruption, spiritual corruption, is widespread, and forms a terrible obstacle to the victorious issue of our common efforts against the ravages of this mental dry-rot. Yet even here, the working class is anything but passive, it struggles harder against this vilest form of corruption than do the despairing intellectuals. What else is the meaning of the thousands of self-education circles, the rambling clubs, the cinema and theater societies, the Left Book Club with its great membership? If only the intellectuals were to join as wholeheartedly into this organization of resistance they would have less cause for complaint (some, to their honor, have joined in). The main difficulty is

the failure of the intellectual to understand clearly that the corruption which rightly appalls him is not the consequence of a moral disease, but of a social system in decay. It is not the machine in itself, any more than the cinema in itself which is to blame, but the private ownership of machine and cinema alike.

This daily resistance to the horrors of the mass-production regime in the factory must, and does, eventually pass outside the factory. It becomes, in its highest form, resistance to war, to fascism, to political reaction in every form, it becomes conscious defense of human culture, it brings about great heroic actions of the people and creates heroes, new types of men and women. Few would disagree with the view that in our time there is one example of moral grandeur and courage worthy to stand beside the greatest in our human history, the defense of Dimitroff against the fascist court in Leipzig. Yet Dimitroff, the man, was forged in this very struggle which I have just described. The Bulgarian working printer first grew mentally and morally in the work of organizing his fellow workers into trade unions, then he led them, from 1912 to 1918, in the fight against war, then, in 1923, against fascism which had lawlessly overthrown the democratic government of his country, and finally, in the Leipzig court, he appeared as the defender of all humanity and its culture against the advance of fascist barbarism. Like Socrates, he could have claimed to have spent his whole life in preparing for his defense.

Indeed, this story of the Reichstag arson is an epic of our time which demands that the artist should give it life. The atmosphere is unforgettable: Berlin on the eve of Hitler's coup, a kind of feverish madness in the streets and beer halls, those who should have been seeing to their weapons still repeating to themselves that no danger existed, those whose lives were at stake, understanding that democracy, in refusing unity, had betrayed the fortress to the enemy, busily preparing to continue the desperate fight in secret; and in the aristocratic clubs, the Ministries, the newspaper offices, the General Staff, constant intrigue, buying and selling of support, preparation for a war of extermination on the democracy of Germany.

In the midst of this the dull-witted, perverted pyromaniac, Van der Lubbe, is wandering in the outskirts of Berlin, sleeping in doss-houses, talking brave stuff to the scum he meets wearing the National-Socialist uniform, consumed with an idiot hatred of society, on that dangerous border-line of sanity that fitted in so well with the atmosphere of those days. He is probably mad already, though the police spies, homosexual storm-troopers, local Nazi officials whom he meets are unable to see it. He goes out in the night to commit his petty little arsons, gloats over the flames so easily extinguished, and, inspired by the provocative frenzy of the Nazi press, sees himself hero of a great conflagration, burning down the corrupt Reichstag where all those talkers sell the poor man to his enemies. The Nazi spies pass on his ravings, by chance they get to the right quarters, and the stage is set, the flames are lit as the signal for that dreamedof St. Bartholomew of the Nazi mythology.

Into this witch's Sabbath, accidentally there fall three sane men, Bulgarian Communist refugees. They are seized, give Hitler the very chance he needs, three Balkan "barbarians" to answer for his fire and convince the world he is really saving civilization from a greater fire. Next, a typical German lower middle-class man, timid, level-headed, respectable, Torgler by name, is so shocked by the charge that he could have had anything to do with the crazy act of burning down the Reichstag in which he has played such an important part as leader of the Communist deputies, that he gives himself up to the police to prove its falseness by his own incontrovertible innocence. After all, the German courts may be a little prejudiced, the police a little brutal, but they are not mad, he reasons.

In prison the four men are chained day and night. Two of the Bulgarians understand no German, they are separated from one another, hear no news of the outer world, only understand they are threatened with a horrible, degrading death for something that seems so crazy as to be almost unbelievable. They are beaten, refused anything to read, kept for a time in semi-darkness as well as in chains. They don't fear death, having faced both death and torture in the prisons of their own country. But there at least you knew that outside were your own people,

fighting your battle with you. Here they seem sunk in a black pit of madness, in which the headman's ax is the only sinister light to relieve the darkness. One of them, tormented by that vision, tells himself that if he must die, he will die cleanly, and opens a vein in his wrist. He does not die. They both refuse to surrender, but they do not fight, they see no way to struggle for that contact with the sane world of life which can alone support them.

Torgler is soon shown his mistake. The captors delight in degrading the self respect of their "respectable" victim. They tell him he is to be shot, take him down a dark corridor, put a revolver at the back of his head so that he screams with fear. He is not any longer virtue defending his innocence, only a badly scared man, determined to try and keep some outward semblance of self respect, but no more than that.

Dimitroff goes through all this. He is different, however, from the others. He sees the position as part of his whole life, and in that life he has never yet surrendered, never accepted a position of inferiority. He hits back from the beginning. His whole mind is concentrated on one thing only—how to turn the tables on the enemy. He knows they are prisoners whose lives are to be used as an excuse for a massacre, that if they fail to turn the tables, the madman's version of the fire will be accepted by the world and the cause of his class, which is that of humanity, will suffer a terrible setback.

The other two Bulgarians knew no German, but they did not try to learn it. Dimitroff knew German quite well, and saw at once he must learn to know it even better in order to fight victoriously and so he studied, chains on his hands and feet, German grammars, the works of Goethe, German history, for he felt that this would also prove an excellent weapon. His mind was busy all day, all night on how he could re-establish contact with the outer world, above all with his comrades in the Soviet Union. Failure followed failure, till at last he remembered the little spa in the hills of the North Caucasus, from which, in clear weather, the whole range of snow-clad mountains, dominated by Elbruz, is visible. He had rested there in the sanatorium of the Central Committee. The

doctor in charge was a Communist, there would be many active party workers resting there as he had rested, taking the mineral water baths and climbing up through the gardens to the windy Temple of Air facing the snowy, fortress-like Elbruz. A harmless little letter to this doctor living far away from Moscow, surely the censors would pass it! They did. And so the campaign outside the prison grew, the forces began to rally, and the captives were alone no longer.

He read Shakespeare, to help his English, because he felt something in the poet, some mastery of life, that made his mind work quicker, strengthened the grip on life of his own will. He noted Hamlet's words: "To thine own self be true and it shall follow, as the night the day, thou canst not then be false to any man." Loyalty, loyalty to his own life, to his Communist convictions, was his dominating passion, his road to life. The thought of death did not often trouble him. He thought not so much of possible death as of the urgent need to win, to defeat his enemies, to turn his trial into a mighty condemnation of fascism which should damage it irreparably. The atmosphere of madness never afflicted him, because he was himself so supremely sane that he knew he could not fail.

Do you want humor also in the story? There is plenty of it, even though a rather sinister, mad humor; the busy police officials, the Nazi leaders, building their crazy edifice of false testimony, dragging in silly landladies, burglars, maniacs of all kinds, all the festering respectability of the decaying middle-class, all the strange borderland of crime and mental disease, to condemn these four men; the fantastic evidence of Goebbels and Goering, routed by the sharp wit and keen mind of the captive printer, the obsequious folly of the learned judge, here is enough material for a great comedian. Do you want the atmosphere of the mad-hatter's tea party, surely the witnesses in that trial will give it!

And all the time there is the figure of Van der Lubbe, the one man who could have told the truth, bowed, heavy, speechless, the very symbol of human degradation, of man with everything lost, emptied of his soul, the "wretched Faust" of this Mephistophelean drama.

The drama is too harsh, too masculine, objects the tender-hearted reader. Perhaps you want love? In prison Dimitroff hears of the death of his wife, the Serbian working girl, trade unionist, poetess, companion and fellow-fighter. We can guess a little of his feelings from a phrase in a letter to his mother; Lyuba, his wife, he writes, is also a heroine, "our unforgettable Lyuba." There is that other love of a woman for him, his mother's, the old woman with the peasant's worn face, who has given all her children to the revolution and lost two of them. She thinks in Biblical phrases. Her son George is for her "the apostle Paul."

Of course, no modern novelist would handle such a subject if he were unable to find a suitable opportunity for a little amusing psychologizing. How then, about taking Dimitroff's landlady, who had those wonderful German betrothal cards printed to announce her nonexistent engagement to her fascinating lodger? To this middle-class German woman, he was her unattainable ideal, her heavenly bridegroom.

I have said enough about the possibilities of the subject, and what, after all, you may fairly ask, has this long digression to do with the subject of my book? It may perhaps be excused as an attempt to show that in our modern life there are extraordinary subjects crying out for imaginative treatment, subjects in which the fantastic is mingled with the heroic, brutality with the calm spirit of man, baseness with loyalty and the chuckling of the insane with the searing wit of the mind's courage. Out of it all emerges a personality the study of which can only enlarge our experience and knowledge of man, strengthen our belief in our own powers and deepen our perception of life.

For do not believe that Dimitroff was born ready equipped for that battle of Leipzig. His life had been a long effort to overcome and remold himself as well as a battle against the semi-feudal capitalism of his Balkan country. Those of us who remember him after the defeat of the Bulgarian insurrection of 1923, know the moral fires he passed through in the following years. He spent a long time in fighting with himself, in merciless self-criticism. That failure showed he was not ready, not

yet fit to lead men victoriously, and he bore it hard, the responsibility of lives lost, of a cause temporarily broken. He discovered the reasons in the narrow sectarianism, the opportunism of the Balkan socialist movement, and he worked on himself till he was free of those vices, till he felt himself Bolshevized, reinforced with the experience of Lenin and the working class of Russia.

"I admit that my tone is hard and sharp," he told the judge. "The struggle of my life has been hard and sharp. My tone is frank and open. I seek to call things by their correct names. . . . I am defending myself, an accused Communist; I am defending my political honor, my honor as a revolutionary; I am defending my Communist ideology, my ideals, the content and significance of my whole life."

After the trial the three Bulgarian prisoners met in a common cell for the first time and Dimitroff summed up the struggle they had made. "There were four of us, Communists—four armed fighters. Torgler is a deserter, for he threw down his rifle and ran from the field of battle. You two did not throw down your rifles, you remained in position, but you did not shoot, and I had to shoot alone all the time." He shot alone, but his fire was strong enough to subdue the enemy's and finally to rout him. To the writer he must always be the symbol of man's spirit victorious against man's enemies. He is man alive.

11. THE LOST ART OF PROSE

TWILL DOUBTLESS only appear a platitude to remind the reader that to write the imaginative history of a man is to give oneself to the most difficult of all tasks, that of artistic creation. Your aspiring novelist may be greatly taken with the character of Dimitroff and those tremendous days at Leipzig, yet it will not help him at all if he believes that he can write a novel upon them by mere lively description of persons and events. No, a novel is history only in so far as it is the

story of men in being, developing, living, and perhaps dying. It has no relation at all to the writing of actual history, where surmise has no place, where all is collation, analysis and accurate generalization from observed facts.

To write imaginatively of Dimitroff you must first do away with the real Dimitroff who lives in Moscow and has an office in the building of the Communist International. You have to start, as it were, with a blank sheet and create an entirely new Dimitroff of the imagination, who is at once greater and less than the real man, greater because, if you are a good writer, your imagination will exalt as well as transform your vision of him, less, because you will never succeed in recreating exactly as he was the man of flesh and blood, with all his physical characteristics, his quickness of mind, his faults and his virtues. Of course, despite that necessary blank sheet, you will nevertheless be grappling with a reality and the result you achieve must in the end depend upon the keenness of your perception of that reality. If it has not been sharp, intense, possessed almost of the quality of revelation (but not quite revelation, for that implies a certain absence of thought) you will never succeed in making your readers live through your experience of Dimitroff with the emotion needed to make him live again in their eyes. You have to force your experience on to other people, to transmit your perception of life to them, and to do that you must have mastered completely the reality with which your genius has contended.

If you are a very great writer indeed the result will be like the creation of a new world in which your character Dimitroff will appear to live a life of his own, independent of time and space. Yet in a sense that character is not yours at all, it is something you have torn away from life and recreated on the blank sheet, impelled by the strength and intensity of your experience. In accordance with your mastery of your materials, the more permanent will appear the result, the more splendid the reflection in it of life, of reality.

Dimitroff, however, for all you may have created a picture of a man who will live with the same timeless life as Don Quixote, Tom Jones, Anna Karenina or Julien Sorel, will be

none the less the Communist printer who alone defied the blood-crazed rulers of the greatest despotism of our time. He will have arisen out of the struggle of classes and the clash of ideas reflecting that struggle. In order that you may create such a picture, in order to bring that embodiment of certain seemingly timeless features of the human spirit into relation with the actual forces which made possible his growth and his triumph, you have to possess certain artistic weapons.

In an earlier chapter I have quoted a phrase of Flaubert's which suggests, quite rightly in its context, that the greatest writers are those who have apparently the most consistently ignored the purely formal side of their art. It would nevertheless be as dangerous as foolish to draw from that the conclusion that the formal side is unimportant. Actually, these great writers were complete masters of their craft, and if they often seem to break all the rules it is only because their creative genius had to make other rules to fit the grandeur of their imagination. It is completely foreign to the spirit of Marxism to neglect the formal side of art. To Marx form and content were inextricably connected, inter-related by the dialectic of life, and for the novelist of socialist realism formal questions are of first importance.

Take, for example, the question of "atmosphere." This is that delicate relationship between character and environment, so difficult to obtain, which is essential to the author if he is to heighten the reality of his characters, give that intensity to the decisive moments of his work which the action demands. It is precisely, indeed, the quality which is lacking from the majority of novels on social themes. Certainly, the attitude of the Socialist writer to atmosphere can hardly be the same as that of the realist of the older school, but he cannot ignore it and he can learn a great deal from the writers of the past as well as from the best novelists of the present as to the means by which atmosphere is created. Among modern writers, Faulkner, for example, is a master in the creation of atmosphere, so that the atmosphere of terror, madness, or fear, will sometimes completely dominate his books, almost overwhelming the characters. The very air will breathe terror if Faulkner needs terror; it is often one of his

faults that he falls, in this respect, into some of the worst traps of romantic writing.

It is not thus, however, that we should conceive of character and environment, as being two separate things, parallel, but unconnected, unchanging in their relations throughout the action of the book. To make clear my meaning, let us go back to our story of Dimitroff. This novel is unthinkable without atmosphere. First, the atmosphere of Berlin after the coup d'état, the great city half crazy with fear and suspicion, with the half-expressed, the half-concealed, the very sounds and lights in the life of a modern town, the wheels of the traffic, the roar of the underground trains, the whirl and flash of the colored street signs, would all be woven into this sinister symphony of hysteria and dread and uneasy expectation. It is on that background your characters would first appear, till the whole scene, perhaps, merged into the approach of Dimitroff in the Munich train, in the early morning, talking quietly to the woman passenger in his compartment, the buying of the paper with the news of the Reichstag fire, and his walking out of the station into the city where his enemies were already waiting for him, maddened by their own arson, hardly sure themselves of the reality of their acts.

From such a city the transition to the prison cell, the symbol of the new order, comes naturally. You have still the same atmosphere, but more concentrated, and in the center is your little group of four "Communist soldiers." And here the artist would have to try, very subtly, to show the atmosphere changing, since from the darkness, brutality and terror which he abstracted out of the first scene into the second, something new would have to come as the figure of Dimitroff fighting against his enemies gradually began to dominate. The change from prison to battle ground, he would have to show that in his "atmosphere."

Then last of all, the trial, the law court being the stage where all the fantastic underworld from the city of the first scene appears to confront the four soldiers in the dock. And the different reactions of each soldier to this atmosphere, until again one of them enforces his will upon it, changes it, brings

in light and air as the spirit of man asserts itself. All the time, though, the novelist would have to remember that underneath the solemn court, with its learned judges, smart policemen, cynical lawyers and eager pressmen, are the prison cells, where the prisoners return after each session, whither Dimitroff was hustled each time he was expelled from court. He would have to control his "atmosphere" so perfectly that the end of the book would seem, quite naturally, to be like that of Beethoven's ninth symphony. The voices of human liberation would break down court walls and prison in their triumphant hymn to life.

The French essayist Alain, in his Système des Beaux-Arts, has a passage showing exactly the place of this descriptive writing in the novel: "One might say that the two methods of prose are thought and narration. It is by them that the objects hold together and the sentiments take form. In short, description should be supported, and it is the novelist's art not to construct his landscapes and houses without thoughts, as also he should not bring to sentiments and to actions edifices too great for them. In this sense Balzac's descriptions promise much, but not too much. The first comment to make upon these preparations, is that all their parts are connected by judgments; it is in this way that prose builds up. You would say that thought seeks there a hold everywhere; whereas poetry sufficiently describes through juxtaposition, because the rhythm holds us. This description must then be science in every one of its parts, so that the judgment binds one part to another; and, in this connection, you might usefully contrast the descriptive analyses of Balzac or of Stendhal with so many literary paintings, such as that of Carthage in Salammbo, which only betray the appearance of things. Every prose edifice holds together by thought in the first place. Thus are moving images held together or grouped around a center. You might here venture to say that it is thought which makes body and matter. If the reader resists, it is because by thought he means abstract formulas which, in fact, grip nothing. And for all that it is true that Balzac or Stendhal have a better understanding of what a town like Alencon or Verrières is like than any geographer has been able to make us have.

"It is a thing worth noting that imagination at first does not enter into play in these descriptions; they seem a little abstract; you only see the judgments in them. It is afterwards, in the narration, that things are shown, not as displayed for a spectacle, but as they gather, appear and disappear around the man who is acting."

The raw material in which the writer works to express his thoughts on men and women is words. As he thinks, he writes, and the logical sequence of his thoughts expresses itself in the ordered form of dialogue and sentences. Much has been written about style, prose rhythms, "pattern" in prose, and so on. I do not propose to add to it, beyond suggesting perhaps another obvious platitude, that there is no living style where this conformity of word and thought is absent, that the romantic thought will demand a romantic style and the realist thought, the plain "prose" thought, a simple, realistic style. Few things are more irritating than the attempt deliberately to create style, or to produce ornament as a substitute for thought. Unfortunately, it has to be recognized that in times when thought becomes difficult, painful or unpleasant, then the affected style is likely to predominate. A more excellent example of this truth (which like the truths of the American Declaration of Independence, we hold to be self-evident) could not be found than in the modern "art" of biography which is all affectation without thought, and therefore "stylized" to the most absurd degree.

The greatest treasure house of expression is to be found in the folk language of any people. Nor can this language ever be said to have died, though it constantly modifies itself. You could very well say of the greatest authors that it is difficult to judge whether they have actually created proverbial language or whether they merely used proverbial language. From Chaucer, through Shakespeare to Shaw, however, it is this popular, almost proverbial language on which our greatest authors have chiefly drawn. The academic critic and literary historian has made it almost a commonplace that the English version of the Bible is the source of language for almost all our great prose literature. Yet no one has ever, so far as I know, studied to find how much that version was merely the ordinary speech of Eng-

lish folk in the Elizabethan age. Certainly, the language of the Bible has ever since remained very much the language of the common people, forming together with that of Milton and the *Pilgrim's Progress*, their literary inheritance to an extent the upper classes in our country could never claim.

This richness of speech and expression has suffered in our own century, but that its vitality is being renewed, partly by importation from America, partly by experience of life, there is little doubt. Much of the paleness and anemia of our modern writing is due to the fact that many intellectuals have deliberately cut themselves off from this eternal spring of renewal, so that of modern writers one of the few whose prose has had real vitality (whatever we may think of him for other reasons) has been Kipling. Kipling soaked himself in the folk speech of England and America, nor was he ever afraid to seize on its latest and most modern manifestations in the new popular mythology growing up around the development of power machinery. The art of writing good prose is largely the lost one of calling things by their right names, the power which gave such force to Dimitroff's speech from the dock. It is a fact, a stubborn, awkward fact that almost the only people in our country who still possess this ability, because they still have the necessary experience of life and store of words to which they add continually, are working people. Many American authors have recognized this in their own country, with the result that, for all their faults, the productions of the so-called "hardboiled" school have created something much more like a living art and a living style than our English writers possess.

The last English writer to whom the art of calling things by their right names came almost as second nature was that remarkable working man William Cobbett, "the most conservative and the most radical man in Great Britain—the truest incarnation of Old England and the boldest progenitor of Young England," as Marx called him. Perhaps the reader will excuse two examples of this prose whose virtue was its ability to find the right names for things. They are from Cobbett's description of Lincolnshire:

"There is one deficiency, and that, with me, a great one,

throughout this country of corn and grass and oxen and sheep, that I have come over during the last three weeks; namely, the want of singing-birds. We are now just in that season when they sing most. Here, in all this country, I have seen and heard only about four sky-larks, and not one other singing bird of any description, and of the small birds that do not sing I have seen only one vellow-hammer, and it was perched on the rail of a pound between Boston and Sibsey. Oh! the thousands of linnets all singing together on one tree in the sand-hills of Surrey! Oh! the carolling in the coppices and the dingles of Hampshire and Sussex and Kent! At this moment (five o'clock in the morning) the groves at Barn-Elm are echoing with the warblings of thousands upon thousands of birds. The thrush begins a little before it is light; next the blackbird; next the larks begin to rise; all the rest begin the moment the sun gives the signal; and from the hedges, the bushes, from the middle and the topmost twigs of the trees, comes the singing of endless variety; from the long dead grass comes the sound of the sweet and soft voice of the white-throat or nettle-tern, while the loud and merry song of the lark (the songster out of sight) seems to descend from the skies."

When Cobbett describes the country through which he rides he shows the very shape and texture of the earth, but he never describes any part of his English scene, birds singing, the Lincolnshire wolds, a farmers' meeting in a country playhouse, a Yorkshire horse-fair, without the consciousness that these things are part of man's life, and that they can only take their beauty, their meaning in relation to man's life. It is this that separates him from nature writers of the type of Hudson and Jeffries. Cobbett's English is sprung from Cobbett's England.

"When I was at St. Ives, in Huntingdonshire, an open country, I sat with the farmers, and smoked a pipe by way of preparation for evening service, which I performed on a carpenter's bench in a wheelwright's shop; my friends, the players, never having gained any regular settlement in that grand mart for four-legged fat meat, coming from the Fens, and bound to the Wen. While we were sitting, a hand-bill was handed round the table, advertising farming stock for sale; and amongst the

implements of husbandry 'an excellent fire-engine, several steeltraps, and spring-guns'! And that is the life, is it, of an English farmer? I walked on about six miles of the road from Holbeach. to Boston. I have before observed upon the inexhaustible riches of this land. At the end of about five miles and three-quarters I came to a public-house, and thought I would get some breakfast; but the poor woman, with a tribe of children about her, had not a morsel of either meat or bread! At a house called an inn, a little further on, the landlord had no meat except a little bit of chine of bacon; and though there were a good many houses near the spot, the landlord told me that the people were become so poor that the butchers had left off killing meat in the neighbourhood. Just the state of things that existed in France on the eve of the Revolution. On that very spot I looked round me and counted more than two thousand fat sheep in the pastures! How long, how long, good God! is this state of things to last? How long will these people starve in the midst of plenty? How long will fire-engines, steel-traps, and springguns be, in such a state of things, a protection to property?"

Cobbett, I am greatly afraid, was not a pure artist, but he wrote in a language which approaches uncommonly near to pure prose, wherein the connection between word and idea is so completely happy as to appear to the reader quite unquestionable. That is how it was. This art of prose is a dying one in our own day, for in order to call things by their right names, you must not be afraid of the things you have to describe, nor allow any barriers to arise between you and them. Cobbett's idea of prose was one thing, the B.B.C.'s is another. Cobbett used language to express life, the B.B.C. uses it to conceal life.* In the English accents of the soldier-farmer there is warmth, and passion, and the voice of sense (as well as of that common-sense which is really only a familiar communion with the common things of our life).

In the thin speech of the gentlemen of Portland Place there are no feelings, passions, thoughts or sense-impressions, no re-

^{*}I refer particularly to that extraordinary list of subjects which cannot be mentioned and words that cannot be used which is the the B.B.C.'s guide through life. The same list of prohibitions exists in most newspaper offices.

flections of the loving and familiar things of life, but only pale reflections of the ghosts and hobgoblins that are substitutes for them in the minds of our modern rulers. Perhaps it is unfair to make this comparison. Perhaps, indeed, though it is such a melancholy fact that from the time of Cobbett to our own day, the evolution of our language has been towards this bloodless, blameless ideal of the B.B.C., an evolution conditioned by the fear of the truth of life that is the most striking feature of the intellectual existence of our class society. If we are to start to call things by their names again, we shall have a lot of leeway to make up, a most indecent dog-fight to engage in with the literary pundits, by the side of which Victor Hugo's and Keats's battles will appear puny indeed, and we must strain our inventive and creative faculties to the utmost in our effort to give our language the new blood it demands. It may be that here the poets will take the lead. If so, then welcome, and let us go into the fight together encouraged by the thought that the fate of our language and the struggles to develop it, have in the past always been most closely bound up with the struggles of our country for national salvation.

12. THE CULTURAL HERITAGE

HE RELATION between an author and the public is a peculiar and complicated one, something much more than that of simply author and reader. For the public is made up of all kinds of men and women of different classes, varying interests, passions, and degrees of intelligence. The public is swayed (for all its apparent indifference, even supineness) by tremendous conflicts of class, by national and racial prejudices, by the inheritance of history working out its inevitable course in the life of humanity. From the public the author takes his characters as well as finds his readers there. Here he discovers both his raw material and his critics. In the greatest novels there is a kind of living unity between creator, characters and readers. Where that unity is wanting, where the

author is aloof from his public, ignores it, or is spiritually ignorant of it, there is very likely to result an anemia, a lack of some important element in the chemistry of imagination, which impoverishes the author's thought or cripples his powers. Not always, or necessarily so, of course, for Stendhal we know consciously wrote for a public yet unborn, accepted that he would be neither understood nor appreciated by his own generation.

Now the author, though in private life he may be the most timid and indecisive of mortals, in his relation to the public as the object of his art must be a mixture of Henry II and Tamerlane, a ruthless master and conqueror, bending all to his own will. Yet it follows also that even the most absolute tyrant cannot be a real master, a maker of history, unless he understands history, unless he possesses a keen sympathy for the unseen processes that mold men's lives. So the author must know his people, be as familiar with them as though the men were his constant tavern companions, the women his loving doxies and the children his own brats. History's most picturesque tyrants, men who ruled in a god-like isolation, have always (in legend) mingled at night-time with their subjects, carefully disguised as common men. The author who cannot do the same is condemned from the start to impotence or, should he insist on making a nuisance of himself in print by presenting a false view of life, to the contempt with which history regards the unsuccessful despot.

For this creative communion to be completely effectual, sympathy is not enough. Or, rather, the sympathy of the author must be informed by history, he must be able to use the cultural heritage of his nation, as the people itself is able to use the political heritage.* The two are, in fact, closely interwoven. A

This is only a partial truth. For the past has no meaning outside the present, and every present has its own judgment of the past. It is the way in which this judgment is formed which should be the most important concern of the critic. However, Mr. Eliot shows his own view of tradition to be essentially

^{*} Mr. T. S. Eliot, in *The Sacred Wood*, has some interesting arguments on this question of tradition and heritage with which I cannot altogether agree. He suggests that the writer must have an historical sense compelling him to write "not merely with his own generation in his bones, but with a feeling that the whole of the literature of Europe from Homer and within it the whole of the literature of his own country has a simultaneous existence and composes a simultaneous order."

people cannot play its part in history if it renounces its cultural past, any more than if it renounces its political past. A writer who inherits from the culture of the past only pale aesthetic ghosts and not a living body of tradition will betray his own cause. So it happens also, as I have insisted throughout this essay, that the greatest writers are not men who are indifferent to the active life of their times. Shakespeare in his historical plays was a keen politician. Milton, besides writing the epic of the stuggle of good and evil, took a part in the greatest revolution of our history and in his prose works developed political principles that his countrymen will ignore at their peril. Fielding the magistrate was a defender of the poor and oppressed, a reformer of a brutal legal system. Byron, first and greatest of the romantic poets, delivered the speech to the Lords upon the Luddites besides writing Childe Harold. "There is a spiritual community binding together the living and the dead," wrote Wordsworth; "the good, the brave, and the wise, of all ages. We would not be rejected from this community."

Milton in his speech to the Parliament of England "for the liberty of unlicensed printing" in words which are a part of England, described what is the noblest heritage of our race:

a passive one. "No poet, no artist of any art, has his complete meaning alone. His significance, his appreciation is the appreciation of his relation to the dead poets and arts. You cannot value him alone; you must set him, for contrast and comparison, among the dead."

Surely this is a scurvy treatment of both past and present. If there is an organic connection between the two it is not this of "contrast and comparison." Truly we judge every poet as part of a whole, but not as that part which is merely passively conditioned by his heritage. The poet or novelist is not an inheritor of dead property. He makes use of the past in order to change, not only the past itself (by his personal achievement), but also the present. Culture is something we must use in order to live, and not merely an object of aesthetic contemplation.

Mr. Eliot, indeed, partly understands this, for in his preface he admits that in preferring Dante to Shakespeare he has to view culture as such an active agent in life that here morals, religion and politics are also concerned. Each new work, Mr. Eliot argues in his essay on "Tradition," alters, ever so slightly, the whole existing order of past work. True, but what are the forces behind this alteration? How does the change take place?

We judge the past as our own life compels us to judge, our life conditioned, not only by our heredity, but also by the class struggles, the passions of our own time. Each new work makes its change conditioned by these same forces. We cannot see only the past. We must see first the present, which is always in process of change.

"If it be desired to know the immediate cause of all this free writing and free speaking, there cannot be assigned a truer than your own mild and free, and humane government; it is the liberty, Lords and Commons, which your own valorous and happy counsels have purchased us, liberty which is the nurse of all great wits; this is that which hath rarefied and enlightened our spirits like the influence of Heaven; this is that which hath enfranchised, enlarged and lifted up our apprehensions degrees above themselves. Ye cannot make us now less capable, less knowing, less eagerly pursuing of the truth, unless ye first make yourselves, that made us so, less the lovers, less the founders of our true liberty. We can grow ignorant again, brutish, formal and slavish, as ye found us; but you then must first become that which ye cannot be, oppressive, arbitrary and tyrannous, as they were from whom ye have freed us. That our hearts are now more capacious, our thoughts more erected to the search and expectation of greatest and exactest things, is the issue of your own virtue propagated in us; ye cannot suppress that unless ye reinforce an abrogated and merciless law, that fathers may dispatch at will their own children. And who shall then stick closest to ye, and excite others? not he who takes up arms for coat and conduct, and his four nobles of Danegelt. Although I dispraise not the defence of just immunities, yet love my peace better, if that were all. Give me the liberty to know, to utter, and to argue freely according to conscience above all liberties."

Liberty did not spring fully armed into the world, like the goddess Athene. It is a slow and painful growth of history, of many stages, bringing with it many revolutions and abrupt changes. Milton spoke at one crisis in our history when freedom took a great leap, a crisis when the selfishness and bigotry of one form of property had to be broken, because it was a fetter on our material progress as well as on our minds. The selfishness of the man who took up arms "for coat and conduct, and his four nobles of Danegelt" has been broken, but in turn another form of property, of ignoble egotism, has taken its place, and in our day is proving a bar to our progress, a shackle on our minds which threatens the further development of our heritage of liberty. We have grown as a nation since Milton's day, and our

England is a very different country. But the time has now come when Milton's descendants are being forced to recognize that economic slavery and national decay are bound up with one another. If the nation is to live, liberty must take another leap forward.

At the risk of appearing to preach a political lesson which on the surface may seem to be but little connected with my central theme, I will remind my readers of two most unhappy episodes in our history which have taken place in this year, 1936, and ask them to consider their deepest import in our national life. In doing so they will, I believe, understand that there is a very real connection between such political events and the content of our national vision, which in turn must color the writer's imagination.

In 1936 the government of Britain, having in its care the fortunes of our people and the inheritance of our nation, has been drawn into two unfortunate conflicts in which foreign imperialist interests have threatened the Imperial interests of Britain. The first of these was the Italian adventure in Abyssinia, in which the British government, having first irresolutely opposed, finally shamefully acquiesced in, the rape of a friendly country, thereby allowing the Fascist tyranny in Italy to establish a great Power in the Eastern Mediterranean athwart the communications of Britain to the East. In the second case, when a group of generals and unprincipled fascist reactionaries, having risen in revolt against the lawful and democratic government of Spain, threatened that country's independence (by help received at a price from German and Italian reaction) and her recently acquired liberty, our government again, hesitatingly and undecidedly, threw its weight rather on the side of reaction than of liberty, thereby making possible the establishment of aggressive German and Italian Imperialism at the Western gate of the Mediterranean.

In each case, the government, moved by a narrow class instinct which brings it nearer in sympathy to foreign tyranny than its own democratic people at home, has acted against the national interest and eventually against even the imperial interest of the small class of great property owners whom it

represents (though this is not to say that the national interest is identical with that of imperialism—far from it). The events in Spain might have been supposed to have stirred historic memories in English minds. On the colors of our regiments are the names of Salamanca, Badajoz, Vittoria, Albuera, Talavera and many other towns and villages of that Iberian peninsula soaked in British blood. The greatest sea fight in our history was decided off Cape Trafalgar. The greatest military campaign waged by British arms, the last campaign in our history in which we had both victory and glory, in which courage and military genius were shown in equal proportions, was for the establishment of Spanish independence against a bold, unscrupulous tyranny. In the ranks of the Spanish volunteers who fought so bravely with us, were Spanish Jacobins, revolutionaries.

The poet Wordsworth with the insight of imaginative genius saw that this war, both for Britain and for Spain, was a national war, a war of the whole people against the abominable, inhuman idea that a state might exist where "at the head of all is the mind of one man who acts avowedly upon the principle that everything which can be done safely by the supreme power of a state may be done." (Tract on the Convention of Cintra.) With the same insight Wordsworth noted that the war against France begun in 1793, like the war against the independence of the American states which preceded it, was a wrongful war, against the national interest, in which the government was concerned only with the narrow class interest of the oligarchy that it represented.

When Napoleon, from being a vital, revolutionary force, smashing the bonds of feudalism throughout Europe, became, by the dialectic of history, the ally and protector of these same feudal forces, when, from being a national liberator, he became an oppressor of the liberty of other nations, the war against him became a just and necessary one and his own defeat inevitable.

Our own bourgeoisie, from the Tudors to the end of the nineteenth century, fulfilled a progressive role in history, developing the productive forces of our country, creating a great literature and a great science, influencing the growth of other nations in

Europe, and being in turn influenced by them. In general, its class interests and the national interests coincided. When they did not, when the greed of property, the incompetence of a corrupt and narrow oligarchy, blinded them, the result was usually national disaster, as in the American war and the first years of the war against revolutionary France. The energy and courage of the handful of people in our tiny island, led by this bourgeoisie and our bourgeois-minded aristocracy, built up an immense Empire. They used abominable cruelties to achieve this, and set up in the countries they conquered tyrannies which would never have been tolerated at home, in order that they might compel their subject nations to pay tribute to this victorious English middle-class and their aristocratic allies. But even here their part was a progressive one, though not in the sense in which the apologists of British rule in India now use that word.

Marx has described this revolutionary side of British colonial rule in unforgettable words, which I will quote at some length, for later it will be necessary to point out that in the relations between our country and the East, there must also be found important elements which are needed for creating that new imagination so necessary for the refertilizing of our national genius. Referring to the effects of British rule in India, Marx wrote:

"English interference having placed the spinner in Lancashire and the weaver in Bengal, or sweeping away both Hindoo spinner and weaver, dissolved these small semi-barbarian, semi-civilised communities, by blowing up their economical bases, and thus produced the greatest and, to speak the truth, the only social revolution ever heard of in Asia. . . . England, it is true, in causing a social revolution in Hindostan, was actuated only by the vilest interests, and was stupid in her manner of enforcing them. But that is not the question. The question is, can mankind fulfil its destiny without a fundamental revolution in the social state of Asia? If not, whatever may have been the crimes of England, she was the unconscious tool of history in bringing about that revolution."

In a sequel to this article, Marx developed his thought further:

"All the English bourgeoisie may be forced to do will neither emancipate nor materially mend the social condition of the mass of the people, depending not only on the development of the productive powers, but of their appropriation by the people. But what they will not fail to do is to lay down the material premises for both. Has the bourgeoisie ever done more? Has it ever affected a progress without dragging individuals and people through blood and dirt, through misery and degradation? The Indians will not reap the fruits of the new elements of society scattered among them by the British bourgeoisie till in Great Britain itself the now ruling classes shall have been supplanted by the industrial proletariat, or till the Hindoos themselves shall have grown strong enough to throw off the English yoke altogether."

We can understand the humiliations of our government's policy in Africa and Spain, if we bear in mind these prophetic words of Marx. Torn between a desire to defend its Indian possessions, from which it draws so much of its economic power, and its natural sympathy for the enemies of human progress among the fascist terrorists of Germany and Italy, our ruling class, its progressive mission in the world long ago exhausted, is feeble and hesitating to a criminal degree, sets itself apart from the interest of the British peoples as a whole and even jeopardizes our existing liberties and national independence, all the virtue that our fathers propagated in us, to recall Milton's noble words. They are now, indeed, in the very position which Milton declared the enemies of liberty must take up, of reinforcing "an abrogated and merciless law, that fathers may despatch their own children."

The immense possessions of our decaying rulers are the envy of other powers more unscrupulous and tyrannical even than themselves, powers who have reached the ultimate point of decay by denying their own national heritage along with the common human heritage of culture. To defend these possessions our rulers must make common cause with democracy and progress against fascism and reaction. But that, they rightly argue, is in the end to hazard them still more certainly by raising up the enemies of their privilege at home. So they seek, with fum-

bling hesitation, for a compromise which will save them nothing and jeopardize more important human rights than the right of a British bank, insurance company or industrial monopoly, to maintain its robber power in India, Africa or Western Asia.

Today the interest of our people, the true national interest, is in supporting the freedom of the great movements for democracy and national liberty which are revitalizing the Arabian, African and Indian peoples. An alliance of free peoples will prove a stronger guard for the liberties of all, including our own, than the present effort to maintain an imperial tyranny which is a menace to our own independence as a nation because of the very inability of the ruling imperial clique to defend the Juggernaut they have created. That Juggernaut will crush them beneath its weight. Unless we understand our position and hold out the friendly hand of a free England to a free India, Africa and Arabistan, it will crush us also.

Why have I dwelt in such detail on a political question? Because with the proper solution of this question is bound up the artistic question which is the subject of my essay. Our fate as a people is being decided today. It is our fortune to have been born at one of those moments in history which demand from each one of us as an individual that he makes his private decision. Hamlet could bemoan his fate in being born at such a juncture, and we also would wish for a more peaceful time, but we, no more than Hamlet, can escape from making our decision. We are a part of that spiritual community with the dead of which Wordsworth spoke, we cannot stand aside, and by our actions we shall extend our imagination, because we shall have been true to the passions in us.

There is being performed in London as I write a play by a famous Austrian dramatist, Arthur Schnitzler, on the subject of anti-Semitism. The play, Mr. Desmond MacCarthy in a penetrating review has pointed out, is old-fashioned, and the author, moreover, is dead. But the theme is very much alive, more than ever it was in the author's lifetime, and the play is only old-fashioned, as Mr. MacCarthy curiously but truly says, because "the construction is the kind exactly suited to the sort of play it is, which happens to be one seldom written today, because

the dramatists who know their job best don't know what to think of life themselves and, therefore, very properly don't try to write plays intended to make people think."

The artist does not know what to think of life. Yet the artist cannot create life unless he dares to think about life. He may make a little picture of unimportant people, or he may dissect a harmless emotion very nicely, but he will not create life without thought. "I think, therefore I am," has its meaning for art as well as for life. Alain, the French essayist, has shrewdly observed that the chief fault of contemporary psychology is to have believed too much in the mad and the sick. It is part of the general fear of life, the effort to keep out of the community of humanity. "We would not be rejected from this community," was Wordsworth's conclusion: "And therefore do we hope." Hope will return on that condition alone, that we are not rejected from the community.

The modern novelist, accepting the primary error of the modern psychologist, tries to find a basis for his imagination in the mad and the sick, having no hope, or lacking the courage to seek a basis for hope. This is as true of Mr. Evelyn Waugh, whose acceptance of this basis leads him to the obscurantist pessimism of the Roman Church, as it is of Mr. Aldous Huxley, who from the same basis preaches a negative pacifist anarchy, a negation of all action which in practice is little different from Mr. Waugh's renunciation of the world and its sins. "The sword," thought Wordsworth, "in the hands of the good and the virtuous, is the most intelligible symbol of abhorrence." Aldous Huxley, being unable to decide between good and evil, since that demands a view of human life not based on the mad and the sick, abhors the symbol of abhorrence more than he does evil itself.

Today, the Russian Revolution, proclaiming that it is possible to organize human life without the oppression and exploitation of man by man, on the foundation of the friendly co-operation of free and equal peoples, has given us the nourishment for lack of which our modern imagination has been languishing. It is in this that the importance of Soviet literature, though still so young and imperfect, lies. It has shown us how we can again

draw fresh strength from the unquenchable sources of our own energy, our *liberty* which is the issue of the virtue propagated in us by our fathers, the liberty to make man what he must be, "the sovereign of circumstances," as Marx called him.

Wordsworth was conscious of the same impelling force giving strength to the imagination of his time from the source of the French Revolution. "Great was it in that dawn to be alive," and the greatness of the dawn first gave his eyes the fresh vision of the Lyrical Ballads. The vision faded somewhat in Wordsworth during the weary years of struggle afterwards, but it revived with the rise of the national revolution in Spain and the passion which that revolt stirred in the English people. It inspired in him one of the sublimest pieces of English prose in the Tract on the Convention of Cintra. In the Tract he uncovers the real basis of poetic imagination, the true relation between man's vision and man's life:

"Oppression, its own blind and predestined enemy, has poured this of blessedness upon Spain-that the enormity of the outrages, of which she has been the victim, has created an object of love and of hatred-of apprehensions and of wishes-adequate (if that be possible) to the utmost demands of the human spirit. The heart that serves in this cause, if it languish, must languish from its own constitutional weakness; and not through want of nourishment from without. But it is a belief propagated in books, and which passes currently among talking men as part of their familiar wisdom, that the hearts of the many are constitutionally weak; that they do languish; and are slow to answer to the requisitions of things. I entreat those, who are in this delusion, to look behind them and about them for the evidence of experience. Now this, rightly understood, not only gives no support to any such belief; but proves that the truth is in direct opposition to it. The history of all ages; tumults after tumults; wars, foreign or civil, with short or with no breathing-spaces, from generation to generation; wars—why and wherefore? Yet with courage, with perseverance, with self-sacrifice, with enthusiasm—with cruelty driving forward the cruel man from its own terrible nakedness, and attracting the more benign by the accompaniment of some shadow which seems to sanctify it; the sense-

less weaving and interweaving of factions-vanishing and reviving and piercing each other like the Northern Lights; public commotions, and those in the bosom of the individual; the long calenture to which the Lover is subject; the blast, like the blast of the desert, which sweeps perennially through a frightful solitude of its own making in the mind of the Gamester; the slowly quickening but ever-quickening descent of appetite down which the Miser is propelled; the agony and cleaving oppression of grief; the ghost-like haunting of shame; the incubus of revenge; the life-distemper of ambition; these inward existences, and the visible and familiar occurrences of daily life in every town and village; the patient curiosity and contagious acclamations of the multitude in the streets of the city and within the walls of the theatre; a procession, or a rural dance; a hunting, or a horse-race; a flood, or a fire; rejoicing and ringing of bells for an unexpected gift of good fortune, or the coming of a foolish heir to his estate; ... these demonstrate incontestibly that the passions of men (I mean, the soul of sensibility in the heart of man)—in all quarrels, in all contests, in all quests, in all delights, in all employments which are either sought by men or thrust upon them-do immeasurably transcend their objects. The true sorrow of humanity consists in this; -not that the mind of man fails; but that the course and demands of action and of life so rarely correspond with the dignity and intensity of human desires: and hence that, which is slow to languish, is too easily turned aside and abused."

Wordsworth's view of the relation between the imagination and life is the exact opposite of the view implicit in Mr. Mac-Carthy's criticism of Schnitzler and so widely held by modern writers. Wordsworth's view is a revolutionary one and an heroic one, for it is rooted in the belief that man is "the sovereign of circumstance," that the dignity and intensity of his desires can only find fulfillment by transcending themselves in action. There are rare occasions in history, in the personal history of each individual, in the common history of mankind, when the demands of life fully correspond with the dignity and intensity of man's desires. Such an occasion confronts us today when the conflict of classes throughout the world has "created an object

of love and of hatred—of apprehensions and of wishes—adequate (if that be possible) to the utmost demands of the human spirit." The novelist who is able to understand this will rise like a giant above his times, recreate the epic art of modern civilization, and truly inherit the tradition of our English letters.

Those who follow closely the life of our sister-democracy in France will have noted the movement in intellectual life there taking place parallel with the political revival of the Republican spirit. The people of France, threatened in their national independence, all their priceless national heritage in danger, have rallied in a common front to maintain their liberties and to make their country free, strong and happy. This movement, taking its beginning from the welding into a common unity of the working people, and gradually spreading to include all those who live by their own labor, of whatever class, has drawn together the most diverse elements in French letters, particularly among the novelists. The Communist Malraux, the anarchist Céline, the liberal Jules Romains, the Socialist Bloch, the supreme individualist Gide, have managed to find a common ground. They have entered again into the communion of the people and are able, because that community has helped them to revive the great traditions of French letters, to find refreshment in it for their art. They have not any longer to submit to the supreme humiliation of the artist, attributed to the British dramatists by Mr. Desmond MacCarthy, of not knowing what to think about life.

There is one more element lacking, however, to make up that modern and revolutionary imagination which I conceive of as essential to the revival of the novel. It is the element of color, fantasy and ironical vision which we have almost lost since the Renaissance. It came then from the East, for the discovery of the magical East, the passing of the caravans over the great deserts to China, the girdling of the globe by the navigators of England and of Portugal, brought about at that time a contact of civilizations which truly fired men's minds. That element I have in mind perhaps appears most clear in Cervantes, but you may find it in Shakespeare also.

This reinforcement of imagination must come to us again now that Asia is awaking from her long sleep, now that among these ancient and historic peoples a revolutionary assertion of their unquenchable vitality is taking place. The sentimental mourn the introduction of "Western" ideas to the East, by which they mean modern science and means of production. They need not mourn. Once the peoples of Asia, who in part have already won their liberation, have mastered these, they will be no slavish imitators of our own weaknesses. Their co-operation will be found essential to the building of a new outlook on life, and it will not prove the least important part of that outlook. I mention the peoples of Asia, because their civilization is the oldest and strongest in the world, but neither should we overlook that the vision of a liberated humanity will be strengthened also by the almost untouched stores of energy in the African and in the Indo-Spanish peoples of America.

The world is divided hopelessly today. The forces of unification are, however, at work, and this the novelist of the new age has to bear ever first in his mind. The process of this unification has been so well described by Marx in the articles on India from which I have already quoted, that this essay cannot better close than on his conclusion to that analysis of the relations between East and West:

"The centralization of capital is essential to the existence of capital as an independent power. The destructive influence of that centralization upon the markets of the world does but reveal, in the most gigantic dimensions, the inherent organic laws of political economy now at work in every civilized town. The bourgeois period of history has to create the material basis of the new world—on the one hand universal intercourse founded upon the mutual dependency of mankind, and the means of that intercourse; on the other hand the development of the productive powers of man and the transformation of material production into a scientific domination of natural agencies. Bourgeois industry and commerce create these material conditions of a new world in the same way as geological revolutions have created the surface of the earth. When a great social revolution shall have

mastered the results of the bourgeois epoch, the market of the world and the modern powers of production, and subjected them to the common control of the most advanced peoples, then only will human progress cease to resemble that Hindoo pagan idol, who would not drink the nectar but from the skulls of the slain."



DATE DUE

RESERV		
FE 9 '65		
MR 2 '65 JY 21'67		
JY 21'67		
NO 27 '67		
NO 27'67 JE 29'68		
JY 2'58	,	
AP1 4'69		
AP 28'69		
GAYLORD		PRINTED IN U.S.A.

808.3 F83

Fox, R.
The novel and the people

DATE

ISSUED TO

808.3 F83

